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Your Support is Vital: 
Donate today to the ECBA PPE Fund

Protecting our local healthcare workers is critical to preventing the further spread 
of COVID-19. The Erie County Bar Association has started a PPE (Personal Protective 
Equipment) Fund and is accepting donations from our ECBA members as well as others. 
Funds raised will be split between Erie’s three local hospitals, St. Vincent Hospital, UPMC 
Hamot, and Millcreek Community Hospital, specifically for the purchase of PPE for their 
staffs. The Erie County Bar Association will match donations up to $1,000.

PPE items your donation will potentially help purchase include:
•	 N95 respirators
•	 Earloop or tie masks
•	 Hand sanitizers
•	 Isolation gowns
•	 Face shields
•	 Safety glasses/goggles
•	 Forehead thermometers
•	 Powered Air Purifying Respirators (PAPR)
•	 Other approved PPE supplies advised by the CDC

The Erie County Bar Association will be accepting PPE Fund donations until April 27th. 
You can donate by credit card at www.eriebar.com/make-a-payment/. Checks are also accepted 
and can be made payable to the Erie County Bar Association and mailed to: ECBA, attn. J. 
Kresge, 429 West 6th Street, Erie, PA 16507.

Unfortunately the COVID-19 pandemic is a rapidly evolving situation. You can make a 
difference by making a financial contribution to support our local COVID-19 response, 
including obtaining and producing protective gear for our caregivers. For additional 
information visit our website at www.eriebar.com and follow us on Facebook.

Blood Donor Today, Hero Tomorrow
Please donate at ECBA’s Blood Drive

Register to donate blood at the ECBA Blood Drive on May 6th from 10:00 a.m. – 2:00 p.m. 
The process of donating blood is confidential and usually takes about 35 minutes from start 
to finish, however the act of donating blood usually takes only 5 to 8 minutes on average. 
One unit of blood can impact the lives of three people and your blood will stay local as 
well – helping those here in the Erie region. With social distancing guidelines in place, make 
a much needed blood donation at the ECBA Will J. Schaaf & Mary B. Schaaf Education 
Center, 429 West 6th Street, by registering with Nancy Theuerkauf at nrtheuerkauf@eriebar.
com. Donors need to be at least 17 years of age, weigh over 110 pounds, not have tattoo or 
body piercings in the last 12 months and be in general good health prior to donating. For 
additional information about donating blood, visit the Community Blood Bank website at 
www.fourhearts.org.
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Erie County Bar Association
Calendar of Events and Seminars

TUESDAY, APRIL 21, 2020
Membership Committee Meeting

4:00 p.m.
Held by conference call

THURSDAY, APRIL 23, 2020
Defense Bar Meeting

4:00 p.m.
ECBA Headquarters

MONDAY, APRIL 27, 2020
ECBA Board of Directors Meeting

Noon
Held by conference call

WEDNESDAY, MAY 6, 2020
Blood Drive administered by Community Blood Bank

10:00 a.m. - 2:00 p.m.
The Will J. Schaaf & Mary B. Schaaf Education Center

Register by emailing nrtheuerkauf@eriebar.com

Nicholas R. Pagliari, First Vice President
Jennifer K. Fisher, Second Vice President

Bradley K. Enterline, Past President
S. Craig Shamburg, Treasurer
Matthew J. Lager, Secretary

2020 BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Emily S. Antolik
Alexander K. Cox
J. Timothy George

Maria Goellner
Elizabeth A. Hirz

Michael P. Kruszewski
Laura J. Mott

Jamie R. Schumacher
William S. Speros

Jo L. Theisen

     George Joseph, President

To view PBI seminars visit the events calendar 
on the ECBA website

https://www.eriebar.com/public-calendar@eriepabarErie County Bar 
Association

TUESDAY, MAY 12, 2020
Family Law Section Meeting

Noon
Judge Walsh’s Courtroom

MONDAY, MAY 18, 2020
ECBA Board of Directors Meeting

Noon
ECBA Headquarters

WEDNESDAY, MAY 20, 2020
Defense Bar Meeting

4:00 p.m.
ECBA Headquarters

SATURDAY, MAY 23, 2020
17th Annual Attorneys & Kids Together 5K Run/Walk

MONDAY, MAY 25, 2020
Memorial Day Holiday
ECBA Office Closed

Erie County and Federal Courthouses Closed

TO BE RESCHEDULED



Commercial Banking Division
2035 Edinboro Road  •  Erie, PA 16509

Phone (814) 868-7523  •  Fax (814) 868-7524

www.ERIEBANK.bank

Our Commercial Bankers are experienced, dedicated, 

and committed to providing exceptional service. 

Working in partnership with legal professionals, we 

provide financial insight and flexible solutions to  

fulfill your needs and the needs of your clients.  

Contact us today to learn more.

The USI Affinity Insurance Program

Call 1.800.327.1550 for your FREE quote.

We go beyond professional liability to offer a complete range of insurance solutions covering 
all of your needs.

USI Affinity’s extensive experience and strong relationships with the country’s most respected 
insurance companies give us the ability to design customized coverage at competitive prices.

•   Life Insurance
•   Disability Insurance

•   Lawyers Professional Liability
•   Business Insurance
•   Medical & Dental 

www.usiaffinity.com

Maloney, Reed, Scarpitti & Company, LLP
Certified Public Accountants and Business Advisors

Confidential inquiries by phone or email to mrsinfo@mrs-co.com.

3703 West 26th St.
Erie, PA  16506
814/833-8545

113 Meadville St.
Edinboro, PA 16412

814/734-3787

www.mrs-co.com

Joseph P. Maloney, CPA, CFE • James R. Scarpitti, CPA
Rick L. Clayton, CPA • Christopher A. Elwell, CPA • Ryan Garofalo, CPA

Forensic Accounting Specialists
fraud detection, prevention and investigation
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NOTICE TO THE PROFESSION

OFFICE BUILDING FOR RENT
2503 W. 26th St.  Great visibility and ample parking with new furnace, central a/c, lobby, four 
offices, conference room, and administrative support space.  SF: 1,445.  Rent: $1,400/month 
with triple net lease, includes landscaping and parking lot snow removal. Call 833-7100.

Apr. 17

L A W     D A Y   2 0 2 0
RESCHEDULED FOR

THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 24th    
BAYFRONT CONVENTION CENTER

M  A  R  K       Y  O  U  R       C  A  L  E  N  D  A  R  !

E  R  I  E       C  O  U  N  T  Y       B  A  R       A  S  S  O  C  I  A  T  I  O  N

Amy Walter

Keynote Speaker  
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Whether you practice, support, create, or enforce the law, Thomson Reuters delivers 
best-of-class legal solutions that help you work smarter, like Westlaw, FindLaw, Elite, 
Practical Law, and secure cloud-based practice management software Firm Central™.  
Intelligently connect your work and your world through unrivaled content, expertise, 
and technologies. See a better way forward  at https://legalsolutions.thomsonreuters.

com/law-products/practice/small-law-firm/

16 offices to
serve you in
Erie County.

Only deposit products offered by Northwest Bank are Member FDIC.        

www.northwest.com
Bank  |  Borrow  |  Invest  |  Insure  |  Plan

TRANSPORTATION 
SOLUTIONS meeting all of your 

driving needs since 1997

Call us! (814) 833-2301

Driving Evaluations & Rehab!
for MVA, Workers’ Comp, Medical Incidents (cognitive or physical)

Our OT
is a Specialist 

whom evaluates 
and/or trains individuals 

to see if they should:

continue to drive
get back to driving

drive with modifications

We offer ALL classes!  A, B, C (car & semi)

4202 Peach St., Erie, PA 16509 •  www.drivingneeds.com   
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GINGER CUNNINGHAM
v. 

CARLA PICARDO, M.D.

APPEAL AND ERROR / MOTIONS IN LIMINE
	 Case law is well-established that when an appellate court is reviewing a trial court’s 
determination of a motion in limine, the appellate court applies an abuse of discretion standard.

APPEAL AND ERROR / ABUSE OF DISCRETION
	 An abuse of discretion may not be found merely because an appellate court might have 
reached a different conclusion, but requires a manifest unreasonableness, or partiality, 
prejudice, bias, or ill-will, or such lack of support as to be clearly erroneous.

APPEAL AND ERROR / WAIVER OF ISSUES
	 This trial court notes case law is clear “the failure to raise an issue, objection, or argument 
in a timely manner during trial forecloses further review of an alleged error in post-trial 
motions or at the appellate level.”

APPEAL AND ERROR / INSTRUCTIONS
	 Case law indicates in reviewing an appellant’s challenges to the trial court’s jury 
instructions, Pennsylvania Superior Court will examine trial court’s rulings on jury 
instructions “to determine whether the trial court abused its discretion or offered an inaccurate 
statement of law controlling the outcome of the case.”

APPEAL AND ERROR / INSTRUCTIONS
	 Jury instructions are considered as a whole, rather than “isolated fragments”.

APPEAL AND ERROR / INSTRUCTIONS
	 A charge will be found adequate unless “the issues are not made clear to the jury or the 
jury was palpably misled by what the trial judge said or unless there is an omission in the 
charge which amounts to fundamental error.”

APPEAL AND ERROR / INSTRUCTIONS
	 A court’s charge to the jury will be upheld if it adequately and accurately reflects the law 
and was sufficient to guide the jury properly in its deliberations.

APPEAL AND ERROR / INSTRUCTIONS
	 Case law is also clear that “[t]he trial court is not required to give every charge that is 
requested by the parties and its refusal to give a requested charge does not require reversal 
unless the Appellant was prejudiced by that refusal.”

APPEAL AND ERROR / INSTRUCTIONS
	 Moreover, “a trial judge may properly refuse a litigant’s requested instructions when the 
substance thereof had been adequately covered in the general charge.”

APPEAL AND ERROR / INSTRUCTIONS
	 The instructions to the jury are not intended to supplement the arguments of the opposing 
parties.

APPEAL AND ERROR / INSTRUCTIONS
	 Trial judges have wide latitude in their choice of language when charging a jury, provided 
trial judges fully and adequately convey the applicable law.

APPEAL AND ERROR / INSTRUCTIONS
	 Where a requested point for charge is covered sufficiently and adequately in the trial court’s 
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jury instructions, it is not error to deny the requested point even though it may contain a 
correct statement of law.

IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS OF ERIE COUNTY, PENNSYLVANIA
CIVIL ACTION
NO. 10274-2013

569 WDA 2019

Appearances: 	 Eric J. Purchase, Esq., for Ginger Cunningham, Appellant
	 Marian J. Cullen, Esq. and R. Kent Hornbrook, Esq., for Carla Picardo, M.D.,  
	    Appellee

1925(a) OPINION
Domitrovich, J.							             June 12, 2019
	 This case is an appeal of a jury trial verdict regarding a claim by a patient, Ginger 
Cunningham (hereinafter “Appellant”), against her surgeon, Carla Picardo, M.D. (hereinafter 
“Appellee”), for medical battery. Eleven (11) of twelve (12) jurors found in favor of Appellee, 
in that Appellee “proceeded with the surgical procedure” upon Appellant with proper 
informed consent. (Verdict Slip). On appeal, Appellant’s issues are: (1) Whether this trial 
court abused its discretion and erred by recognizing the instant case is distinguishable from 
the factual basis in Montgomery v. Baraz-Sehgal, 798 A.2d 742 (Pa. 2002); (2) Whether 
this trial court properly denied Appellant’s Motion in Limine excluding negligence where 
this trial court sustained Appellee’s objections and denied said Motion in Limine in order 
to prevent counsel from trying “to ‘back door’ negligence concepts into this case” and 
where no negligence evidence was admitted in this case thereby rendering this issue moot; 
(3) Whether this trial court abused its discretion and committed error where Appellant did 
not raise any objections as to Appellee’s opening and closing arguments regarding alleged 
references to this surgery being performed “non-negligently,” and thereby Appellant failed 
to preserve properly this issue; and (4) whether this trial court properly denied Appellant’s 
proposed jury instructions, specifically numbers four (4), five (5), eight (8), twelve (12), 
thirteen (13), sixteen (16), and eighteen (18).
	 Procedurally, the Honorable John Garhart denied Appellee’s Partial Motion for Summary 
Judgment on December 11, 2018, and shortly thereafter retired. On February 26, 2019, the 
Erie County Court Administrator forwarded this case to the undersigned judge to conduct 
this jury trial. Any rulings by Judge Garhart were not disturbed by this trial judge by virtue 
of the coordinate jurisdiction rule. This jury trial was conducted over three days, including 
jury selection, and concluded on March 14, 2019.
	 Factually, the parties agree the surgery itself was consented to. However, the dispute 
arises from Appellant’s allegation Appellee failed to advise Appellant she would be the 
“lead surgeon.” In fact, all three surgeons — Dr. Picardo, Dr. Stull and Dr. Tseng — were 
listed as surgeons on the Informed Consent form when Appellant signed this form. Appellant 
contested whether Appellee personally explained the material facts to Appellant before 
signing the Informed Consent form.
	 The first issue presented is based on the Pennsylvania Supreme Court case of Montgomery 
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v. Baraz-Sehgal, 798 A.2d 742 (Pa. 2002), which is factually distinguishable from the instant 
case. In the instant case, Appellant admitted she consented to have the surgery performed as 
to the excision of her Bartholin’s gland. In Montgomery v. Baraz-Sehgal, however, the patient 
had not consented to an extra procedure, an implantation, prior to surgery. Moreover, in the 
instant case, the facts are sufficient for the jury to find Appellee thoroughly explained the 
informed consent form with risks and possible alternatives which Appellant signed with the 
names of Dr. Picardo and two other surgeons to perform the procedure. Clearly, Montgomery 
v. Baraz-Sehgal is factually different from this instant case. To the extent Appellant argues 
the Montgomery case stands for “negligence concepts are irrelevant in a consent or informed 
consent case,” this trial court notes no negligence evidence was admitted in the instant case 
and Appellant’s argument is moot and meritless.
	 As to the second issue regarding Appellant’s Motion in Limine to exclude negligence, 
this trial court sustained Appellee’s objection and denied said Motion in Limine to avoid 
counsel claims of “back dooring” negligence concepts into this case. In the instant case, 
this trial court favored a “wait and see” attitude to ensure no counsel admitted negligence 
evidence in this alleged medical battery case. Case law is well-established that when an 
appellate court is reviewing a trial court’s determination of a motion in limine, the appellate 
court applies an abuse of discretion standard. See, Turner v. Vallery Housing Development 
Corp., 972 A.2d 531, 535 (Pa. Super. Ct. 2009). “An abuse of discretion may not be found 
merely because an appellate court might have reached a different conclusion, but requires a 
manifest unreasonableness, or partiality, prejudice, bias, or ill-will, or such lack of support 
as to be clearly erroneous.” Davis v. Borough of Montrose, 194 A.3d 597, 606-07 (Pa. Super. 
Ct. 2018) (citing Crespo v. Hughes, 167 A.3d 168, 177 (Pa. Super. Ct. 2017)).
	 When Appellant’s counsel argued said Motion in Limine regarding negligence concepts, 
Appellant’s counsel did not argue negligence was not an issue based upon the facts 
presented. Appellant’s counsel argued, based upon an alleged lack of consent, a battery had 
occurred, and Appellee caused Appellant’s alleged disfigurement in an area which was not 
being operated upon. As such, Appellee’s counsel objected to this Motion in Limine due to 
his concern Appellant’s counsel was “going to back door a standard of care case, because 
their whole case is around this allegedly improperly removed piece of [Appellant’s] labia.” 
(Notes of Testimony, Status Conference, March 6, 2019, 52:2-4). In fact, as a precaution, 
Appellee’s counsel had an expert available during the trial to testify to standard of care if 
Appellant raised this issue at the trial. Similarly, as a precaution, this trial court chose a “wait 
and see” attitude to ensure no counsel admitted negligence evidence in this alleged medical 
battery case. During the trial, no negligence evidence was presented or admitted. Since no 
negligence evidence was introduced into this case, this issue as to Appellant’s Motion in 
Limine is rendered moot and, therefore, lacks merit.
	 Appellant’s third issue refers to Appellee’s opening and closing arguments as to alleged 
references to this surgery being performed “non-negligently.” This Trial Court cannot locate 
the use of such language of “non-negligently” by Appellee’s counsel in either her opening 
or closing statements to the jury. To the extent Appellee’s counsel used the term “standard 
of care,” Appellant made no objections as to this language, thereby not preserving this issue 
for appeal. This trial court notes case law is clear “the failure to raise an issue, objection, 
or argument in a timely manner during trial forecloses further review of an alleged error in 
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post-trial motions or at the appellate level.” Com. v. Johnson, 534 A.2d 511, 515 (Pa. Super. 
Ct. 1987); See, Pa.R.A.P. 302(a) (“Issues not raised in the lower court are waived and cannot 
be raised for the first time on appeal.”).
	 The following is a portion of Appellee counsel’s opening statement using the term “standard 
of care” and revealing no objections raised by Appellant’s counsel:
	 Formerly known as MS. PATCHEN (now MS. CULLEN):

I’m going to talk with you a little bit about what the evidence 
will show, but before talking about what the evidence will show 
I’m going to tell you what it will not show. And Mr. Purchase 
touched on this a little bit, and that was his indication, you know, 
that this isn’t — you don’t have to make any determination about 
the surgery being done wrong or anything like that in order to 
prove the case. Well, the reality is there will be no criticism 
whatsoever of Dr. Picardo’s skill, of her judgement, of her 
recommendations. There will be no criticism of her surgical 
technique. There will be no criticism of any decisions she made 
in treating Ginger. And that’s important, because you can 
assume that her treatment was therefore within the standard of 
care and appropriate. The only question in this case is whether 
she treated Ginger without her consent.

(N.T.1 at 32:2-] 8) (emphasis added).
	 Furthermore, the following is a portion of Appellee counsel’s closing statement in context 
with her use of “standard of care” and also revealing no objections by Appellants’ counsel:
	 Formerly known as MS. PATCHEN (now MS. CULLEN):

You heard from Dr. Picardo, Ginger was her patient. She was 
always my patient. You heard from Dr. Stull, she wasn’t my 
patient, she wasn’t my patient. I think it’s interesting, too, that 
Mr. Purchase has suggested throughout this case that Dr. Picardo 
lacked the experience performing this procedure. Again, with 
respect to the gland, Dr. Picardo was forthright about that. And 
she explained that operating in the area of the vulva, it’s all the 
same anatomy, okay, and that she had removed cysts in that area 
and that is why this notion that she was not qualified to remove 
a Bartholin’s cyst or that she had never removed a Bartholin’s 
cyst is quite a disingenuous. It’s also problematic for a couple 
of reasons.

Mr. Purchase stood up here and told you at the beginning of the 
case he wasn’t going to criticize Ms. Picardo’s competency, that 
this isn’t an allegation that she didn’t use the standard of care, 
those are not issues in this case. Well, if those aren’t the issues 
in this case, why are we talking about qualifications again? 
Why are we talking about her experience with that when she 
disclosed her experience as it related to the gland? To suggest 
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that she wasn’t experienced enough — and he said that in his 
opening, she was a young doctor, she wasn’t all that experienced 
with surgery. That’s standard of care. If you’re going to pursue 
a case like that, we’re not having the same kind of discussion 
that we’re having in front of you.

My only reason for bringing that up, I told you at the beginning, 
you are to assume this surgery was performed perfectly. It was 
performed within the standard of care. There is no question as 
to her skill, her judgment, her surgical technique, known of 
that I at issue. Because if it was, you would have heard from 
an expert witness who would have offered opinions that she 
didn’t do those things properly and that caused injury. The 
only question in front of you is whether Dr. Picardo obtained 
her consent for this surgery.

Now, one of the other issues that has come up during this 
testimony is whether Ginger had an understanding as to what 
the role of these doctors would be during this procedure. The 
only witness that you heard from in this case regarding what 
is required of a physician as it relates to obtaining a patient’s 
consent was Dr. Picardo. The plaintiff has the ability to call any 
witness they want; any witness they want. And they chose to 
call the person they are suing and put her on the stand and have 
her explain to you what is required of her and whether she did 
it. No one contested that testimony, ladies and gentlemen, that’s 
very important. The uncontested testimony in front of you here’s 
what I as a physician am required to do as part of my informed 
consent process; here’s what I did. And you didn’t hear anyone 
say, she failed to tell Ginger what she needed to know. And that 
is important, okay?

(Notes of Testimony, Jury Trial — Day 2, March 14, 2019, 102:20-105:4 (“N.T.2”) (emphasis 
added). As evidenced above, Appellant failed to object during trial, thereby waving this issue.
	 Assuming arguendo, Appellant did not waive this issue by not objecting, no negligence 
evidence was admitted. To the extent Appellee’s counsel mentioned “standard of care” in her 
opening and closing arguments, this trial court’s reading to this jury the following standard 
jury instructions adequately conveyed to the jury the understanding that argument by either 
counsel was not evidence. Immediately before the opening statements of counsel, this trial 
court stated:
	 THE COURT: The trial will proceed in the following manner: First, the 

plaintiff’s lawyer will make an opening statement to you. Next, 
the defendant’s lawyer will make an opening statement. An 
opening statement is not evidence but is simply a summary of 
what the lawyer expects the evidence will show. The opening 
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statements are designed to highlight for you the disagreements 
and factual differences between the parties in order to help you 
judge the significance of the evidence when it is presented.

Once the lawyers have made their opening statements, then each 
party is given an opportunity to present its evidence. Plaintiff goes 
first, because they have the burden of proof which I will discuss 
in greater detail later. The plaintiff will present witnesses whom 
the lawyer for the defendant may cross-examine. Following 
the plaintiff’s case the defendant may present its evidence and 
plaintiffs lawyer may cross-examine their witnesses.

After all the evidence has been presented, the lawyers will 
present to you closing arguments to summarize and interpret the 
evidence in an attempt to highlight the significant evidence that 
is helpful to their client’s positions. As with opening statements, 
closing arguments are not evidence.

(N.T.1 at 6:15-7:14) (emphasis added). Since Appellant waived the issue and this court 
instructed the jury that argument by counsel is not evidence, Appellant’s third issue lacks 
merit.
	 As to Appellant’s fourth issue, Appellant alleges this trial court erred in not giving the 
jury Appellant’s proposed jury instructions of numbers four (4), five (5), eight (8), twelve 
(12), thirteen (13), sixteen (16), and eighteen (18). Most of said proposed instructions by 
Appellant were not Suggested Standard Civil Jury Instructions but instead referred to case 
law not relevant to this case, and, if granted, would have caused confusion to the jurors 
as to the law. Said proposed instructions were also denied when the substance had been 
adequately covered in other instructions. Only one proposed instruction on appeal, number 
eighteen (18), was standardized but was denied due to not being relevant to the instant case.
	 Case law indicates in reviewing an appellant’s challenges to the trial court’s jury instructions, 
Pennsylvania Superior Court will examine trial court’s rulings on jury instructions “to 
determine whether the trial court abused its discretion or offered an inaccurate statement 
of law controlling the outcome of the case.” Amato v. Bell & Gossett, 116 A.3d 607, 620 
(Pa. Super. Ct. 2015) (citing Tincher v. Omega Flex, Inc., 104 A.3d 328, 351 (2014)). Jury 
instructions are considered as a whole, rather than “isolated fragments”. Com. v. Simpson, 66 
A.3d 253, 274 (Pa. 2013). “A charge will be found adequate unless ‘the issues are not made 
clear to the jury or the jury was palpably misled by what the trial judge said or unless there is 
an omission in the charge which amounts to fundamental error.’” Stewart v. Motts, 654 A.2d 
535, 540 (Pa. 1995) (quoting Voitasefski v. Pittsburgh Rys. Co., 69 A.2d 370, 373 (Pa. 1949)). 
“A court’s charge to the jury will be upheld if it adequately and accurately reflects the law 
and was sufficient to guide the jury properly in its deliberations.” Com. v. Pers., 498 A.2d 
432, 434 (Pa. Super. Ct. 1985). Case law is also clear that “[t]he trial court is not required to 
give every charge that is requested by the parties and its refusal to give a requested charge 
does not require reversal unless the Appellant was prejudiced by that refusal.” Amato v. Bell 
& Gossett, 116 A.3d 607, 621 (Pa. Super. Ct. 2015) (quoting Com. v. Sandusky, 77 A.3d 663 
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(Pa. Super. Ct. 2013)). Moreover, “a trial judge may properly refuse a litigant’s requested 
instructions when the substance thereof had been adequately covered in the general charge.” 
Perigo v. Deegan, 431 A.2d 303, 306 (Super. Ct. 1981). “The instructions to the jury are 
not intended to supplement the arguments of the opposing parties.” Ferrer v. Trustees of 
Univ. of Pennsylvania, 825 A.2d 591, 612-13 (Pa. 2002) “A ‘trial judge has wide latitude 
in his or her choice of language when charging a jury, provided always that the court fully 
and adequately conveys the applicable law.’” Ettinger v. Triangle-Pac. Corp., 799 A.2d 95, 
106-07 (Pa. Super. Ct. 2002) (citing Wagner v. Anzon, 684 A.2d 570 (Pa. Super. Ct. 1996)). 
“[I]f a requested point for charge is sufficiently and adequately covered in the trial court’s 
jury instructions, it is not an error to deny the requested point even though it may contain 
a correct statement of the law.” Thomas by Thomas v. Duquesne Light Co., 545 A.2d 289, 
290 (Pa. Super. Ct. 1988), aff’d and remanded, 595 A.2d 56 (Pa. 1991).
	 This trial court will address each jury instruction ruling that Appellant challenges by 
providing the specific instruction language addressing each of Appellant’s issues; however, 
all of this trial court’s jury instructions should be read together as a whole.
	 Appellant’s proposed jury instruction number four (4) indicated:

#4. A patient may specifically limit his or her consent to an invasive medical procedure 
to a particular surgeon. Taylor v. Albert Einstein Medical Center, 723 A.3d 1027, 
1034 (Pa. Super. 1998)1; Grabowski v. Quigley, 684 A.2d 610, 617 (Pa. Super. 1996)
(“If the patient is not informed to the identity of the operating surgeon, the situation is 
a “ghost surgery”).

	 Both the Taylor and Grabowski cases involved factually different situations from the instant 
case. In Taylor, the patient’s mother alleged she had given consent to perform invasive surgery 
to Dr. Wertheimer, not to Dr. Trinkaus. In fact, when Dr. Trinkaus was specifically asked by the 
patient’s father who would perform surgery, Dr. Trinkaus unequivocally stated Dr. Wertheimer 
would perform the catheterization. However, Dr. Trinkaus performed the catheterization with 
Dr. Wertheimer’s assistance. In Grabowski, patient sued three physicians for battery, medical 
malpractice, breach of oral contract, and vicarious liability. Patient alleged first physician agreed 
to perform herniated disc surgery; second physician actually performed majority of surgery 
due to first physician’s unavailability; and a third physician instructed second physician to 
perform surgery. The consent form which Appellant signed stated surgery would be “performed 
under the direction of Dr. Quigley, el al”. Appellant testified “et al”, which was handwritten, 
looked to him like “ETOL”, and that the patient did not know what those words meant until his 
counsel explained them to him at a deposition. Moreover, the records in Grabowski reflected 
the first physician who obtained the informed consent was unavailable for the procedure so 
he delegated to a second physician, unknown to the patient, who performed the bulk of the 
surgery. The first surgeon was not even on the premises but was in another county at the time 
the patient was placed under anesthesia. In the instant case, clearly all three surgeons’ names 
are listed on the Informed Consent Form that Appellant signed after discussing this form with 
Appellee. Appellee did not delegate to another surgeon to perform this surgery. Therefore, this 
trial court read to this jury Pennsylvania Suggested Standard Civil Jury Instruction 14.90, 

   1 This case was reversed on other grounds. See, Taylor v. Albert Einstein Med. Ctr.,754 A.2d 650 (Pa. 2000).
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Informed Consent — Nondisclosure and instructed the jury as follows:
	 THE COURT: The physician who is responsible for the performance of the 

surgery cannot delegate to others her duty to provide sufficient 
information to obtain the patient’s informed consent. The 
physician must personally satisfy this obligation through direct 
communication with the patient.

(N.T.2 at 146:23-147:3). See also, generally (N.T.2 at 138:20-160:17).
	 With this trial court’s reading of all of the given jury instructions, and specifically 
Pennsylvania Suggested Standard Civil Jury Instruction 14.90, Informed Consent — 
Nondisclosure, the jury in the instant case was properly and adequately informed that the 
physician who is responsible for the procedure must be the physician who obtained the 
patient’s informed consent. Moreover, as noted above, after Appellee discussed the Informed 
Consent form with Appellant, Appellant signed the Informed Consent form with all three 
surgeons — Dr. Picardo, Dr. Stull, and Dr. Tseng — listed near the top of the form. Dr. 
Picardo and Dr. Stull together then performed the surgery on Appellant. The jury in the instant 
case found Dr. Picardo obtained informed consent from Appellant to perform this surgery; 
therefore, this trial court did not “circumscribe the jury’s duty by limiting any material or 
relevant facts” with this jury instruction which provides the law, not facts. Appellant’s issue 
as to proposed jury instruction number four (4) was properly denied and lacks merit.
	 Appellant next asserts Appellant’s proposed jury instruction number five (5) should have 
been granted. Appellant’s proposed jury instruction number five (5) indicated:

#5. For consent to be effective. It must be informed and knowledgeable. In order for 
consent to be informed, there must be a clear understanding by both the parties of “the 
nature of the undertaking and what the possible, as well as expected, results might 
be.” McSorely v. Deger, 905 A.2d 524, 528 (Pa. Super. 2006).

	 Here, this trial court provided the jury with Pennsylvania Suggested Standard Civil Jury 
Instruction 14.90, Informed Consent — Nondisclosure which adequately stated the law in 
this area in more detail for the jury to follow rather than a mere reference to “the nature of 
the undertaking.” This trial court instructed the jury as follows:

THE COURT: A physician must obtain a patient’s consent to surgery. Patient’s 
consent must also be informed. A patient cannot make an informed 
decision unless the physician explains the risks that a reasonably 
prudent patient would need to know to make an informed decision 
and the alternative choices. This is called informed consent. 
A patient must have been given a description of the proposed 
medical procedure or treatment and have been informed about 
the risks of the procedure or treatment. The patient must also be 
informed of the viable alternatives a reasonable person would 
consider important to know in order to make an informed decision 
about whether or not to undergo the procedure, treatment, or 
operation.

(N.T.2 at 146:9-22). See also, generally (N.T.2 at 138:20-160:17).
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	 This suggested standard instruction, 14.90, adequately provided the necessary guidance 
as to the applicable relevant law for the jury to apply to the facts as they found the facts as 
to this particular issue. This trial court also properly indicated to the jury that the jurors are 
the finders of facts, not the trial court. Since Appellant’s proposed jury instruction merely 
stated a conclusion regarding a “clear understanding by both the parties of ‘the nature of the 
undertaking and what the possible, as well as expected, results might be,’” this trial court 
properly denied Appellant’s request for number five (5). Therefore, Appellant’s issue as to 
proposed jury instruction number five (5) lacks merit as supported above.
	 Appellant’s next issue involves proposed jury instruction number eight (8):

#8. The primary point of informed consent is that the patient is informed of all the 
material facts from which she can make an intelligent choice as to her course of 
treatment. Shinal v. Toms, 162 A.3d 429, 455 (Pa. 2017).

	 Here, this trial court provided the jury with the relevant portion of Pennsylvania Suggested 
Standard Civil Jury Instruction 14.90, Informed Consent — Nondisclosure:
	 THE COURT: A physician must obtain a patient’s consent to surgery. Patient’s 

consent must also be informed. A patient cannot make an informed 
decision unless the physician explains the risks that a reasonably 
prudent patient would need to know to make an informed decision 
and the alternative choices. This is called informed consent. 
A patient must have been given a description of the proposed 
medical procedure or treatment and have been informed about 
the risks of the procedure or treatment. The patient must also be 
informed of the viable alternatives a reasonable person would 
consider important to know in order to make an informed decision 
about whether or not to undergo the procedure, treatment, or 
operation.

(N.T.2 at 146:9-22).
	 Additionally, this trial court also provided the jury with part of Appellant’s proposed jury 
instruction number six (6), which Appellant’s counsel drafted from Shinal v. Toms, 162 A.3d 
429,455 (Pa. 2017):
	 THE COURT: Informed consent requires direct communication between 

physician and patient and contemplates a back and forth fact-to-
face exchange.

(N.T.2 at 147:12-14). See also, generally (N.T.2 at 138:20-160:7).
	 The subcommittee notes of Pennsylvania Suggested Standard Civil Jury Instruction 14.90 
specifically explains the reason for disclosure as the “patient’s right to know all material 
facts pertaining to proposed treatment cannot be dependent upon the self-imposed standards 
of the medical profession.” 14.90 (CIV) INFORMED CONSENT — NONDISCLOSURE, 
Pa. SSJI (CIV), 14.90. As reflected in this subcommittee’s notes, “[i]n determining whether 
a physician breached a duty to a patient to apprise him or her of material risks involved in 
a recommended medical procedure and available alternatives, the standard of care is not 
what a reasonable medical practitioner would have done in the situation, but whether the 

ERIE COUNTY LEGAL JOURNAL
Cunningham v. Picardo, M.D.15

- 16 -



physician disclosed those risks that a reasonable person would have considered material to 
a decision of whether or not to undergo treatment.” Id. Said instruction was properly read to 
this jury to apply to the facts as the jury found them. Thus, Appellant’s issue as to proposed 
jury instruction number eight (8) was properly denied and also lacks merit.
	 Appellant next asserts Appellant’s proposed jury instruction number twelve (12) should 
have been granted. Appellant’s proposed jury instruction number twelve (12) indicated:

#12. Informed consent is the product of the physician-patient relationship. The patient 
is in the vulnerable position of entrusting his or her care and well-being to the physician 
based upon the physician’s education, training, and expertise. It is incumbent upon the 
physician to cultivate a relationship with the patient and to familiarize himself or herself 
with the patient’s understanding and expectations . . . Only by personally satisfying 
the duty of disclosure may the physician ensure that consent truly is informed.” Shinal 
v. Toms, 162, A.3d at 453-454.

	 Here, this Trial Court provided the jury with the relevant portion of Pennsylvania Suggested 
Standard Civil Jury Instruction 14.90, Informed Consent — Nondisclosure:

THE COURT: A physician must obtain a patient’s consent to surgery. 
Patient’s consent must also be informed. A patient cannot 
make an informed decision unless the physician explains the 
risks that a reasonably prudent patient would need to know to 
make an informed decision and the alternative choices. This 
is called informed consent. A patient must have been given a 
description of the proposed medical procedure or treatment 
and have been informed about the risks of the procedure or 
treatment. The patient must also be informed of the viable 
alternatives a reasonable person would consider important to 
know in order to make an informed decision about whether 
or not to undergo the procedure, treatment, or operation.

(N.T.2 at 146:9-22). See also, generally (N.T.2 at 138:20-160:17).
	 This portion of the jury instruction adequately contemplated Appellant’s issue and 
provided the necessary guidance for the jury to apply to the facts as they found the facts. 
Thus, Appellant’s issue as to proposed jury instruction number twelve (12) was properly 
denied and also lacks merit.
	 Appellant next asserts Appellant’s proposed jury instruction number thirteen (13) should 
have been granted. Appellant’s proposed jury instruction number thirteen (13) indicated:

#13. Lack of informed consent is the legal equivalent of no consent. Montgomery v. 
Bazaz-Sehgal, 798 A.2d 742, 748 (Pa. 2002).

	 As indicated above, Montgomery v. Bazaz-Sehgal, 798 A.2d 742 (Pa. 2002), is factually 
distinguishable from the instant case. In the instant case, the jury had sufficient facts to find 
Appellant consented to have the surgery performed as to the excision of her Bartholin’s 
gland. In Montgomery v. Bazaz-Sehgal, however, the patient had not consented to an extra 
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procedure, an implantation, prior to surgery. In this instant case, this trial court provided the 
jury with relevant portions of both Pennsylvania Suggested Standard Civil Jury Instruction 
14.90, Informed Consent — Nondisclosure and Instruction 14.110, Informed Consent — 
Damages:
	 THE COURT: A physician must obtain a patient’s consent to surgery. Patient’s 

consent must also be informed. A patient cannot make an informed 
decision unless the physician explains the risks that a reasonably 
prudent patient would need to know to make an informed decision 
and the alternative choices. This is called informed consent. 
A patient must have been given a description of the proposed 
medical procedure or treatment and have been informed about 
the risks of the procedure or treatment. The patient must also be 
informed of the viable alternatives a reasonable person would 
consider important to know in order to make an informed decision 
about whether or not to undergo the procedure, treatment, or 
operation.

(N.T.2 at 146:9-22).
	 This trial court also read this suggested standardized instruction to the jury as to damages:
	 THE COURT: A physician who proceeds with procedure or treatment without 

the patient’s informed consent is liable for all injuries caused by 
that procedure or treatment regardless of whether the procedure’s 
performed or the treatment is administered with the proper skill 
and care. Damages are recoverable for this unauthorized touching, 
regardless of whether an actual injury occurs.

(N.T.2 at 148: 16-23). See also, generally (N.T.2 138:20-160:17).
	 As indicated above, these suggested standard civil jury instructions provided by this trial 
court to this jury adequately addressed these concepts and provided necessary guidance on 
the law to the jurors for the jurors to apply to the facts as they found them. Appellant’s issue 
as to proposed jury instruction number thirteen (13) was properly denied and lacks merit.
	 Appellant also asserts Appellant’s proposed jury instruction number sixteen (16) should 
have been granted:

# 16. “The patient is entitled to choose his own physician and he should be permitted to 
[agree to] or refuse to accept [a] substitution . . . The patient is entitled to the services 
of the particular surgeon with whom he or she contracts . . . If the surgeon employed 
merely assists the . . . other physician in performing the operation, it is the . . . other 
physician who becomes the operating surgeon. If the patient is not informed to the 
identity of the operating surgeon, the situation is an (impermissible) ‘ghost surgery’.” 
Taylor, at 1036, Grabowski, at 617.

Here, this trial court provided this jury with the relevant portions of Pennsylvania Suggested 
Standard Civil Jury Instruction 14.90, Informed Consent — Nondisclosure:
	 THE COURT: The physician who is responsible for the performance of the 

surgery cannot delegate to others her duty to provide sufficient 
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information to obtain the patient’s informed consent. The physician must 
personally satisfy this obligation through direct communication with the 
patient.

(N.T.2 at 146:23-147:3). See also, generally (N.T.2 at 138:20-160:17).
	 This instruction informed the jury that the physician responsible for the procedure must be 
the physician who obtained the patient’s informed consent. Moreover, the subcommittee notes 
expressly indicated this instruction focuses on who must disclose the risks: “The physician 
who performs an operation on a patient has a non-delegable duty to personally obtain the 
patient’s informed consent. 14.90 (CIV) INFORMED CONSENT — NONDISCLOSURE, 
Pa. SSJI (CIV), 14.90 (citing Shinal v. Toms, 162 A.3d 429 (Pa. 2017)). Further, as indicated 
above, Appellant signed the Informed Consent form with all three physicians listed: Dr. 
Picardo, Dr. Stull, and Dr. Tseng; however, Dr. Picardo was the only surgeon who dealt with 
the Informed Consent form with Appellant. Dr. Picardo and Dr. Stull performed the surgery. 
As discussed above, both Taylor v. Albert Einstein Medical Center and Grabowski v. Quigley 
are distinguishable from the instant case. In the instant case, this trial court provided the 
jury with the proper suggested standard civil jury instructions to address adequately these 
concepts and provided the jury with the necessary guidance on the law for the jury to apply 
to the facts as they found them. Appellant’s issue as to proposed jury instruction number 
sixteen (16) was properly denied and lacks merit.
	 Appellant also asserts Appellant’s proposed jury instruction number eighteen (18) should 
have been granted:

#18. (SSJI 14.100 INFORMED CONSENT—MISREPRESENTATION OF 
PHYSICIAN’S PROFESSIONAL CREDENTIALS, TRAINING OR EXPERIENCE”
	 A physician is required to obtain the patient’s informed consent to proceed with 

surgery. A patient’s consent is not informed if the physician knowingly misrepresents 
her professional credentials, training, or experience.

	 The patient is not required to prove that she would have chosen differently, had the 
physician disclosed her true credentials, training, or experience. The patient must prove 
only that the misrepresentation was a “substantial factor” in the decision whether or 
not to undergo the procedure or treatment.

	 A physician may not argue as a defense that a reasonable person would have agreed 
to undergo the procedure or treatment even had the physician disclosed her true 
credentials, training, or experience. What a reasonable person would have chosen to 
do is irrelevant. The patient has the right to choose.

	 Pennsylvania Suggested Standard Civil Jury Instruction. Fourth Edition, No. 14.100.

	 In the instant case, despite evidence indicating that Dr. Picardo did not misrepresent 
her personal credentials as to training and experience, Appellant argued Dr. Picardo 
misrepresented who would be the surgeon. Additionally, no evidence was presented that Dr. 
Picardo misrepresented her “true” professional credentials, training, or experience. Since 
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no evidence of any misrepresentation occurred by the Appellee, this jury instruction was 
not appropriate. Appellant also argued she was “not accurately advised of the identity of the 
surgeon who would be performing the surgery on her.” Assuming arguendo this statement as 
true, this requested suggested standardized civil jury instruction is not proper or applicable 
as this instruction does not contemplate the type of misrepresentation alleged by Appellant. 
Appellant’s issue as to proposed jury instruction number eighteen (18) was properly denied 
and lacks merit.
	 For all of the above stated reasons, all of Appellant’s issues on appeal lack merit. This trial 
court respectfully requests the Pennsylvania Superior Court affirm this trial court’s rulings 
and uphold this jury’s verdict.
						      BY THE COURT
						      /s/ Stephanie Domitrovich, Judge
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NON-PRECEDENTIAL DECISION - SEE SUPERIOR COURT I.O.P. 65.37

GINGER CUNNINGHAM, Appellant
v. 

CARLA PICARDO, M.D.

IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF PENNSYLVANIA
No. 569 WDA 2019

Appeal from the Judgment Entered April 11, 2019
In the Court of Common Pleas of Erie County Civil Division at No(s):

10274-2013

BEFORE: BENDER, P.J.E., KUNSELMAN, J., and PELLEGRINI, J.*

MEMORANDUM BY BENDER, P.J.E.:			   FILED MARCH 27, 2020
	 Appellant, Ginger Cunningham, appeals from the judgment entered in favor of Appellee, 
Carla Picardo, M.D., following a jury trial.1 We affirm.
	 We briefly summarize the relevant facts and procedural history of this matter. On May 29, 
2013, Ms. Cunningham filed a complaint against Dr. Picardo, a medical doctor practicing 
obstetrics and gynecology at Erie Women’s Health Partners, alleging that Dr. Picardo performed 
surgery on her without her consent, informed or otherwise. See Complaint, 5/29/13, at ¶ 41; 
N.T. Trial, 3/13/19,. at 50-52. The case proceeded to a two-day jury trial in March of 2019.
	 At trial, Dr. Picardo testified that Ms. Cunningham became a patient of hers around 
August of 2010. N.T. Trial, 3/13/19, at 54-55. At that time, Dr. Picardo explained that Ms. 
Cunningham had been having repeated problems with her Bartholin’s gland. Id. at 55.2 
Consequently, during an appointment with Ms. Cunningham on January 26, 2011, Dr. Picardo 
stated that she recommended the excision of Ms. Cunningham’s right Bartholin’s gland, an 
unusual and drastic procedure. Id. at 61-62, 65-66. At that appointment, Dr. Picardo recalled 
telling Ms. Cunningham that she had never removed a Bartholin’s gland herself, had only 
seen it done once when she was a resident nine years prior,and that she was not comfortable 
doing the procedure by herself. See id. at 66-67. Specifically, Dr. Picardo testified:

   * Retired Senior Judge assigned to the Superior Court.
   1 The caption incorrectly named Appellee as “Carl A. Picardo, M.D.,” instead of “Carla Picardo, M.D.” We have 
amended it accordingly.
   2 We note that the Bartholin’s glands “are located on each side of the vaginal opening. These glands secrete fluid 
that helps lubricate the vagina.” See “Bartholin’s cyst,” Mayo Clinic (April 26, 2018), https://www.mayoclinic.
org/diseases-conditions/bartholin-cyst/symptoms-causes/syc-20369976 (last visited Mar. 6, 2020). Dr. Picardo 
explained at trial that the Bartholin’s gland is “pea-size[d], maybe a little bit bigger, and it sits sort of in its little 
bed to hold it, and you can feel that area when you do a vaginal exam, which involves one single-gloved finger to 
kind of go inside the vagina and feel into that area....” N.T. Trial, 3/13/19, at 57.

The message I was getting across is this is not a procedure I would do solo, by myself. 
I would have to have — I didn’t say this directly, but I — in my mind the idea is you do 
surgery; if you are not feeling comfortable specifically with what you’re doing, having 
the proper assistantance can actually bridge that gap of experience.
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Id. Because she did not have experience with the procedure, Dr. Picardo said that she offered 
to refer Ms. Cunningham to a specialist in Pittsburgh. Id. at 68-69. However, Dr. Picardo 
testified that Ms. Cunningham expressed that she would like to stay in Erie if there was 
someone there who could do the procedure. Id. at 69. As a result, Dr. Picardo said she offered 
to go speak with her partners to see if one of them was comfortable with a Bartholin’s gland 
excision. Id. Dr. Picardo stated that, at the time, the concept she hoped to provide to Ms. 
Cunningham was that she would “like to see if they have experience, and could help with 
the procedure.” Id.
	 Dr. Picardo articulated that she then left the exam room, and went to speak to her partner, 
Dr. Jennifer Stull, D.O. Id. at 72. According to Dr. Picardo, Dr. Stull told her that she 
had performed Bartholin’s gland excisions in the past, and was willing to assist with Ms. 
Cunningham’s case. Id. at 73. Dr. Picardo explained that she then went to speak to her other 
partner, Dr. Francis Tseng, M.D., who conveyed to her that he was not comfortable being 
the main person performing the procedure, but would be available as a backup. Id. at 74-75.
	 Dr. Picardo articulated that she subsequently returned to Ms. Cunningham’s exam room, 
and conveyed to her “the concept ... that I talked to Dr. Stull, she’s willing to be there, is 
willing to help.” Id. at 76. When asked whether she specifically told Ms. Cunningham that 
Dr. Stull would be assisting her, Dr. Picardo replied:

When we consent patients, we don’t typically go into who’s going to do exactly what, 
because that’s not something that we do ourselves. When we go into surgery, there’s the 
responsible surgeon and someone who is also there, we call it the assistant, because a lot 
of times we consider these formal titles. But as the surgeon that also means — it doesn’t 
mean necessarily you’re the only one doing the surgery, but you are responsible. You 
are responsible for the consent, the paperwork, seeing the patient beforehand, making 
sure all the supplies are in the operating room, seeing the patient afterwards, writing 
all of the care for the patient after the surgery, dictating the record. And how much you 
do, sometimes the main surgeon and the assistant surgeon, the attending surgeon and 
the assistant surgeon are doing half and half. We don’t sort of decide you’re going to 
do this part, I’m going to do this part.

So that’s where I think there becomes some confusion about labeling someone the 
surgeon or the assistant. There’s the attending, or the responsible, surgeon, which was 
me, because I did everything that the attending[,] responsible surgeon would do. And 
Dr. Stull was my assistant, but as an assistant[,] she basically could do a lot or a little of 
the surgery. And in my mind she was ... the appropriate assistant to have, because she 
would be there with the knowledge of where[,] .,. if I felt like I was having difficulty 
finding the Bartholin’s gland[,] she would be able to either do that part or help me.

Id. at 77-78.
During the January 26, 2011 appointment, Dr. Picardo testified that she shared with Ms. 
Cunningham the risks of surgery, her alternative choices, and a description of the procedure. 
Id. at 91-93, 133-38. Dr. Picardo recalled that she filled out a written consent form. Id. at 93. 
On the consent form, “Picardo/Stull/Tseng” appears next to “Physician’s Name.” See id.; Ms.
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Cunningham’s Exhibit 5. Dr. Picardo indicated that she always included all the physicians’ 
names so that patients knew that these physicians “could be involved with their surgery[,]” 
but stated that she does not “give a specific role” for them. N.T. Trial, 3/13/19, at 93. Dr. 
Picardo stated that she has never been taught that a physician must tell a patient how surgery 
responsibilities are going to be divvied between the attending surgeon and anyone else, and 
that such information is not required to obtain informed consent. Id. at 139. With respect to 
Ms. Cunningham’s written consent form, Dr. Picardo testified that:

[W]hat the patient should take from this in my mind is [that] those are the people who 
are allowed to be involved with her surgery, that she is consenting to be allowed to be 
in the room, potentially participate in the surgery itself. And that is how it explains. 
With Dr. Tseng[,] I was very specific saying I doubt he will be there but I put his name 
on for completion and for your permission.

Id. at 94-95. Ms. Cunningham signed the consent form. See Ms. Cunningham’s Exhibit 5.
	 Dr. Picardo testified that Ms. Cunningham’s surgery occurred on February 8, 2011. See N.T. 
Trial, 3/13/19, at 95. Dr. Picardo recalled that she had a conversation with Ms. Cunningham 
in the holding room before the procedure took place, and explained that the attending surgeon 
must see the patient before surgery. Id. at 95-97. During Ms. Cunningham’s surgery, Dr. Picardo 
testified that she made the incision, dissected the tissue to the gland, removed the gland, and 
placed the sutures. Id. at 104-06. Dr. Picardo agreed that Dr. Stull’s involvement was limited 
to cutting sutures, suctioning and sponging blood, and protracting tissue. Id. at 105-06.
	 Dr. Picardo stated that she planned post-operation appointments with Ms. Cunningham. Id. 
at 109-10. At an appointment on April 1, 2011, Dr. Picardo remembered that Ms. Cunningham 
brought up that “she was unhappy about how her vulva looked” and that she was having pain 
with sex. Id. at 112-13.3 Dr. Picardo recalled Ms. Cunningham’s complaining that her labia 
minora are uneven and not exactly the same size. Id. at 115, 118.4 However, after examining 
her, Dr. Picardo said she determined that it looked like “the normal range of asymmetry” 
and could not see what Ms. Cunningham meant. Id. at 115. Dr. Picardo testified:

[W]e ... reviewed the surgery, because I don’t remember the exact words [Ms. 
Cunningham] used but I think she gave me the impression that she felt I had removed 
something, which was not the case at all. And I went in and spent 15 minutes explaining 
or reviewing the surgical method. And I told her I’m not sure why — if you feel there’s 
a difference in the symmetry, I don’t know why that would happen, there’s nothing that 
I specifically did during the surgery or that we did during the surgery, anything involved 
in the surgical method, that could explain that, because we weren’t involved on the 
outside, we were on the inside. Single incision, no tissue was removed from the skin 
itself, the only tissue that was sent to pathology was the Bartholin’s cyst slash gland.

   3 The parties referred to the external genitalia as the vulva at trial. N.T. Trial, 3/13/19, at 22, 33, 99.
   4 In lay terms, the labia minora are the smaller lips around the vaginal opening. See N.T. Trial, 3/13/19, at 113-14.

Id. at 115-16; see also id. at 122 (“I couldn’t explain a logical reason for it to [look different 
after the surgery] since no tissue was removed during surgery related to the skin, the only 
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part that was removed was the Bartholin.”); N.T. Trial, 3/14/19, at 72-73 (stating that the 
incision was made inside of the vagina and nothing was done to any of the labia). Dr. Picardo 
stated that she did not observe any missing labia, but only asymmetry, which she said is not 
an abnormal finding. N.T. Trial, 3/14/19, at 77.
	 Ms. Cunningham also testified at trial. She explained that, during her January 26, 2011 
conversation with Dr. Picardo about the procedure, Dr. Picardo “told [her] that she had 
not excised a Bartholin’s gland before, that she was not comfortable doing the procedure 
herself, and that she would speak to her colleagues about it to see if one of them would be 
available to do it.” Id. at 169-70. Ms. Cunningham said she did not remember Dr. Picardo 
offering to refer her to a specialist in Pittsburgh. Id. at 170. Ms. Cunningham explained her 
understanding of what Dr. Picardo had told her as follows:

[Ms. Cunningham’s attorney:] Tell us about how you responded to what you were being 
told. When [Dr. Picardo] told you she’d never done it, wouldn’t do it alone and was going 
to talk to one of her partners, what were you understanding that she was telling you?

[Ms. Cunningham:] That one of her partners would be doing the surgery. And that was 
more confirmed to me at that point, because I recall after Dr. Picardo came back in 
to talk with her partners that she had said that Dr. Stull had done these surgeries, was 
comfortable with them, and then asked me if I was okay since she was my doctor that 
she [would] be there and be present during the surgery. I recall her asking if she could 
scrub in to be there.

[Ms. Cunningham’s attorney:] When you say she asked if it was okay for her to scrub 
in, is that Dr. Picardo asked if it was okay?

[Ms. Cunningham:] Yes.

[Ms. Cunningham’s attorney:] So she leaves the room, comes back and tells you Dr. 
Stull has done this before, Dr. Stull is comfortable doing it, and asks if it’s okay for 
her to scrub in?

[Ms. Cunningham:] Correct.

[Ms. Cunningham’s attorney:] And what was your understanding about what Dr. Picardo 
would be doing in the process?

[Ms. Cunningham:] Urn, I thought it was great that she wanted to be there, because 
she was my doctor, I was comfortable with her. I was also comfortable with Dr. Stull, 
because of the incision and drainage that she had done previously, so I had met her and 
was cared for by her well. And I thought they all seemed to be caring about my outcome.

Id. at 170-71. Ms. Cunningham testified that she understood that “Dr. Stull was performing 
my surgery[,]” and “expected [Dr. Picardo] to be there for me as her patient and maybe 
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hand a pair of scissors in or something that, you know, would be needed by Dr. Stull” Id. 
at 175. According to Ms. Cunningham, “[n]owhere in my mind did I think Dr. Picardo was 
going to cut into me, did I think Dr. Picardo would be the one removing the gland from me, 
did I think Dr. Picardo would be the one putting stitches in me....” Id. at 202. She said she 
understood that “Dr. Stull would do the surgery, Dr. Picardo would be present or possibly 
assist, and Dr. Tseng would be available that day if ... need be for any emergency[,] for 
backup.” Id. at 206.
	 Ms. Cunningham said that she did not speak to Dr. Picardo on the morning of her surgery, 
and has no memory of the operating room because she was under anesthesia. Id. at 175-76. 
Following her surgery, Ms. Cunningham recalled her fiance telling her that Dr. Picardo had 
talked to him after the procedure, and Ms. Cunningham “remember[ed] thinking that it was 
weird that she had come to speak to him, because I thought Dr. Stull was doing the surgery 
and I expected her to speak with him.” Id. at 176-77.
	 Shortly after surgery, Ms. Cunningham testified that she called in to see a physician before 
her scheduled two-week post-operation appointment because she was in a lot of pain, and 
was examined by Dr. Stull, who told her that she thought “Dr. Picardo did a good job.” Id. 
at 178-79, 181. Ms. Cunningham said that this comment suggested to her that Dr. Picardo 
was her lead surgeon, which upset her, but she was distracted by her pain at that point. Id. 
at 181.
	 Ms. Cunningham testified that she had two post-operative appointments with Dr. Picardo. 
At the first appointment on February 26, 2011, Ms. Cunningham remembered that she was 
healing well, and her pain had improved. Id. at 181-82. Though she had concerns about her 
appearance, Ms. Cunningham stated that she did not say anything to Dr. Picardo at that point 
because she was still healing and “swelling was going down, bruising was resolving.” Id. at 
182. However, at her second post-operative appointment on April 1, 2011, Ms. Cunningham 
recalled that she “did have some time to heal up, quite a bit, in that period of time [from 
February to April], and things did not look better at all. As swelling went down, it was very 
apparent to me that the bottom portion of my labia minora was gone....” Id. at 183. In addition 
to sharing her concerns about her appearance with Dr. Picardo, Ms. Cunningham said she 
also conveyed that she was still experiencing some pain. Id. at 183-85. She recalled Dr. 
Picardo’s discussing plastic surgery and physical therapy with her, and prescribing topical 
ointment to treat her pain and a steroid cream to help with skin elasticity. Id. at 184-86.
	 Ms. Cunningham testified that she felt betrayed and misled by Dr. Picardo, and said she 
“can’t and couldn’t understand the concept of why she would perform this surgery when she 
clearly told me she had never done it and we clearly discussed Dr. Stull doing the surgery.” 
Id. at 186-87. She stated that her “feelings go to this is permanent, my labia is not going 
to grow back, I was stuck with this, and it was a real struggle for me, my confidence, my 
dignity.” Id. at 186. Ms. Cunningham relayed that the left and right sides of her labia minora 
were symmetrical before the surgery. Id. at 187-88, see also 189.5 Ms. Cunningham claimed 
that, after the surgery, the right side of her labia minora “no longer goes to the bottom of 
the vaginal opening. I am left with the top half of my labia minora.” Id. As a result, Ms. 
Cunningham stated that, “with what I was left with[,] this disfigurement from the surgery, 

   5 At trial, Ms. Cunningham’s sister and mother both testified that Ms. Cunningham’s vulva looked different after 
the surgery, and noticed that part of her labia was missing. See N.T. Trial, 3/13/19, at 163, 211.
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it’s impacted me in many different ways, in many different relationships of [sic] my life; in 
my trust of doctors, for myself, for my son, for my father, for my mother, for my patients 
that I was taking care of [while working as a nurse]. It’s ... really put a lot of distrust in 
me there.” Id. at 198. She also noted that it presented a struggle in her marriage and, since 
getting divorced following the surgery, she feels embarrassed to tell future partners about 
what happened to her. See id. at 193-94, 199.
	 Dr. Stull’s deposition was read at trial, where she indicated that she remembered having 
a discussion with Dr. Picardo about Ms. Cunningham’s case, that it was common for them 
to talk to each other, and that it was standard practice for their office to have two doctors 
involved with any surgery. N.T. Trial, 3/14/19, at 27, 29. Dr. Stull said that she did not 
remember whether Dr. Picardo told her anything about Dr. Picardo’s own experience with 
Bartholin’s gland excision surgeries. Id. at 30. When questioned about her understanding 
regarding who was responsible for Ms. Cunningham’s surgery, Dr. Stull conveyed:

[Ms. Cunningham’s attorney:] Did you have any understanding earlier, during that 
initial discussion with Dr. Picardo, about who was going to be the attending surgeon 
and who would be the assisting surgeon?

[Dr. Stull:] Well, she would have been the attending. It was her patient. She was the 
one that got the consent, and I would have assisted.

[Ms. Cunningham’s attorney:] Why did you understand that she was going to be the 
attending and you would be the assistant?

[Dr. Stull:] Because it was her patient. It was her consent. The surgery was scheduled 
under her.

[Ms. Cunningham’s attorney:] Okay. And what does it mean to be the attending surgeon 
versus the assistant surgeon?

[Dr. Stull:] The attending is the primary. The assistant is the one that retracts and 
basically just assists in the OR.

***

[Ms. Cunningham’s attorney:] Was there ever a specific discussion that you had with 
Dr. Picardo before the surgery about allocating responsibility?

[Dr. Stull:] No.

[Ms. Cunningham’s attorney:] You had the general understanding that you would be 
the assistant and she would be the attending and that meant she would have primary 
responsibility?
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[Dr. Stull:] Correct.

[Ms. Cunningham’s attorney:] And you would assist. Did Dr. Picardo ask you for any 
advice or guidance about how the procedure should be performed?

[Dr. Stull:] Well, that’s standard practice. I can’t tell you with this particular case if she 
did, but we always do that in the OR. We always, you know, any time you question, 
you know, what are your thoughts, you know, it’s part of working as a team.

Id. at 30-32. Dr. Stull testified that her involvement in Ms. Cunningham’s surgery was 
limited to cutting sutures, retracting tissue, and suctioning and sponging blood so that the 
visual field is clear. Id. at 36.
	 Following trial, a jury returned a verdict in favor of Dr. Picardo, determining that she proceeded 
with the surgical procedure upon Ms. Cunningham with proper informed consent. Thereafter, 
Ms. Cunningham filed a timely post-trial motion, which the trial court denied. On April 11, 
2019, judgment was entered in favor of Dr. Picardo and, on April 16, 2019, Ms. Cunningham 
filed a timely notice of appeal. The trial court subsequently ordered Ms. Cunningham to file a 
Pa.R.A.P. 1925(b) concise statement of errors complained of on appeal, and she timely complied.
	
	 Presently, Ms. Cunningham raises the following issues for our review:

A. Did the trial court err when it allowed the defense to argue lack of negligence in 
this informed consent case?

B. Did the trial court err by limiting the material “facts” of which a patient must be 
informed to material “risks”?

C. Did the trial court err when it refused to instruct the jury that a patient must be correctly 
advised of the professional credentials, training and experience of her primary surgeon?

Ms. Cunningham’s Brief at 4 (unnecessary capitalization omitted).

Issue 1
	 In Ms. Cunningham’s first issue, she argues that the trial court erred when it allowed the 
defense to argue lack of negligence in this informed consent case, and asserts that the trial 
court “erroneously denied [her] motion in limine (#2) which sought to exclude any evidence 
or argument regarding negligence or the standard of care.” See id. at 15 (citation omitted). 
She states that “[t]he fact that [her] surgery was performed non-negligently and/or within 
the standard of care was repeatedly highlighted in defense counsel’s opening and closing 
arguments. This was an abuse of discretion and error of law since it is well established that 
negligence concepts are irrelevant in a consent or informed consent case.” Id. (citation omitted). 
Additionally, she says that “it suggested to the jury that lack of negligence could be a defense 
to lack of consent.” Id. In particular, she claims that “the jury may have applied a ‘so what’ 
standard, reasoning that since the doctor was not negligent, the lack of informed consent was 

ERIE COUNTY LEGAL JOURNAL
Cunningham v. Picardo, M.D.

- 27 -



harmless. The injection of negligence concepts may have led the jury to lose sight of the central 
question pertaining to whether the doctor obtained informed consent.” Id. at 23.
	 The trial court explained why it denied Ms. Cunningham’s motion in limine to exclude 
negligence evidence in the first place, as follows:

[T]his trial court sustained [Dr. Picardo’s] objection and denied said [m]otion in [l]imine 
to avoid counsel claims of “back dooring” negligence concepts into this case. In the 
instant case, this trial court favored a “wait and see” attitude to ensure no counsel admitted 
negligence evidence in this alleged medical battery case.

***

When [Ms. Cunningham’s] counsel argued said [m]otion in [l]imine regarding negligence 
concepts, [her] counsel did not argue negligence was not an issue based upon the facts 
presented.[6] [Ms. Cunningham’s] counsel argued, based upon an alleged lack of consent, a 
battery had occurred, and [Dr. Picardo] caused [Ms. Cunningham’s] alleged disfigurement 
in an area which was not being operated upon. As such, [Dr. Picardo’s] counsel objected 
to this [m]otion in [l]imine due to his concern [Ms. Cunningham’s] counsel was “going 
to back door a standard of care case, because their whole case is around this allegedly 
improperly removed piece of [Ms. Cunningham’s] labia.” In fact, as a precaution, [Dr. 
Picardo’s] counsel had an expert available during trial to testify to standard of care if 
[Ms. Cunningham] raised this issue at the trial. Similarly, as a precaution, this trial court 
chose a “wait and see” attitude to ensure no counsel admitted negligence evidence in this 
alleged medical battery case. During the trial, no negligence evidence was presented or 
admitted. Since no negligence evidence was introduced into this case, this issue as to 
[Ms. Cunningham’s] [m]otion in [l]imine is rendered moot and, therefore, lacks merit.

Trial Court Opinion (TCO), 6/13/19, at 3-4 (internal citation omitted).
	 While no negligence evidence was admitted at trial, Ms. Cunningham nevertheless takes issue 
with the following comments pertaining to negligence made by defense counsel in her opening 
and closing statements. During the defense’s opening statement, defense counsel asserted:

I’m going to talk with you a little bit about what the evidence will show, but before 
talking about what the evidence will show[,] I’m going to tell you what it will not 
show. And [Ms. Cunningham’s] attorney touched on this a little bit, and that was his 
indication, you know, that this isn’t — you don’t have to make any determination about 
the surgery being done wrong or anything like that in order to prove the case.[7] Well, 

   6 Based on our review, the record does not support this assertion. The record shows that Ms. Cunningham had 
argued that “[t]his is not a negligence case, this is a consent case[,]” and insisted that “[i]t’s not at all about the 
standard of care.” N.T. Status Conference, 3/6/19, at 53, 54.
   7 During his opening statement, Ms. Cunningham’s counsel said:

Importantly, there’s no requirement to prove one way or the other whether the surgery was done 
correctly or wrongly, good or bad. That isn’t an element in this case. It’s not something that we’re 
going to try to prove.

N.T. Trial, 3/13/19, at 20.
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the reality is that there will be no criticism whatsoever of Dr. Picardo’s skill, of 
her judgment, of her recommendations. There will be no criticism of her surgical 
technique. There will be no criticism of any decisions she made in treating [Ms. 
Cunningham]. And that’s important, because you can assume that her treatment 
was therefore within the standard of care and appropriate. The only question in 
this case is whether she treated [Ms. Cunningham] without her consent.

See also Ms. Cunningham’s Brief at 19 (citing N.T. Trial, 3/13/19, at 32; emphasis added 
in brief). In the defense’s closing statement, defense counsel argued:

[Ms. Cunningham’s attorney] stood up here and told you at the beginning of the case 
that he wasn’t going to criticize [Dr.] Picardo’s competency, that this isn’t an allegation 
that she didn’t use the standard of care, those are not the issues in this case. Well, if 
those aren’t issues in this case, why are we talking about qualifications again? Why 
are we talking about her experience with that when she disclosed her experience as it 
related to that gland? To suggest that she wasn’t experienced enough — and he said that 
in his opening, she was a young doctor, she wasn’t all that experienced with surgery[8] 
That’s standard of care. If you’re ... going to pursue a case like that, we’re not having 
the same kind of discussion that we’re having in front of you.

My only reason for bringing that up, I told you at the beginning, you are to assume 
this surgery was performed perfectly. It was performed within the standard of 
care. There is no question as to her skill, her judgment, her surgical technique, 
known [sic] of that is at issue. Because if it was, you would have heard from an 
expert witness who would have offered opinions that she didn’t do those things 
properly and that caused injury. The only question in front of you is whether Dr. 
Picardo obtained her consent for this surgery.

   8 For context, in Ms. Cunningham’s opening statement, her counsel stated that “in roughly 2010[,] Dr. Carla 
Picardo was a fairly young obstetrician-gynecologist in Erie. She was working part time. She had at that point in her
career fairly limited surgical experience.” N.T. Trial, 3/13/19, at 21. Ms. Cunningham then advanced a theory at 
trial that Dr. Picardo intentionally did not tell Ms. Cunningham that she would be the lead surgeon because, as a 
young surgeon, she wanted to obtain more surgical experience and feared that Ms. Cunningham would not consent 
if she told her she would be in charge of her surgery. See id. at 30 (“What we will prove to you is that Dr. Picardo
betrayed [Ms. Cunningham’s] trust, she exploited her vulnerability when she was under anesthesia, she made [Ms. 
Cunningham] an unwilling practice subject, she violated the law when she misled [Ms. Cunningham] about who
was going to be performing the surgery. [Ms. Cunningham is] disfigured, she is uncomfortable with this 
disfigurement.”); id. at 90 (Ms. Cunningham’s counsel: “Did you intentionally not tell [Ms. Cunningham] that 
you were going to be the lead because you feared she might hesitate to consent and you wouldn’t get the chance 
to do this [surgery]?”).

Ms. Cunningham’s Brief at 20 (citing N.T. Trial, 3/14/19, at 103-04; emphasis added in brief).
	 Regarding these references to standard of care in defense counsel’s opening and closing 
statements, the trial court determined that Ms. Cunningham had waived this claim by failing 
to make a timely objection at trial. TCO at 4. Nevertheless, even if not waived, the trial court 
concluded that this claim lacked merit as “no negligence evidence was admitted.” Id. at 6. 
Moreover, it reasoned that:
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To the extent [Dr. Picardo’s] counsel mentioned “standard of care” in her opening and 
closing arguments, this trial court’s reading to this jury the following standard jury 
instructions adequately conveyed to the jury the understanding that argument by either 
counsel was not evidence. Immediately before the opening statements of counsel, this 
trial court stated:

THE COURT: The trial will proceed in the following manner: First, the plaintiff’s 
lawyer will make an opening statement to you. Next, the defendant’s lawyer will 
make an opening statement. An opening statement is not evidence but is simply 
a summary of what the lawyer expects the evidence will show. The opening 
statements are designed to highlight for you the disagreements and factual 
differences between the parties in order to help you judge the significance of 
the evidence when it is presented.

Once the lawyers have made their opening statements, then each party is given 
an opportunity to present its evidence. Plaintiff goes first, because they [sic] have 
the burden of proof[,] which I will discuss in greater detail later. The plaintiff will 
present witnesses whom the lawyer for the defendant may cross-examine. Following 
the plaintiff’s case[,] the defendant may present its evidence and plaintiff’s lawyer 
may cross-examine their [sic] witnesses.

After all the evidence has been presented, the lawyers will present to you closing 
arguments to summarize and interpret the evidence in an attempt to highlight 
the significant evidence that is helpful to their client’s [sic] positions. As with 
opening statements, closing arguments are not evidence.

[N.T. Trial, 3/13/19, at 6-7]. Since [Ms. Cunningham] waived the issue and this court 
instructed the jury that argument by counsel is not evidence, [this] issue lacks merit.

Id. at 6-7 (emphasis added; emphasis added by trial court omitted).
	 At the outset of our review, we address whether Ms. Cunningham has waived this issue by 
failing to object at trial. As she discerns, the trial court’s ruling on her motion in limine allowed 
for ‘discussion’ pertaining to negligence and the standard of care. See Ms. Cunningham’s 
Brief at 19 n.5; see also Order, 3/11/19, at 1 (“‘Since Negligence Is Immaterial In A Consent 
Case, There Should Be No Discussion Of Negligence Or The Standard Of Care’ is hereby 
DENIED.”) (emphasis in original). While we recognize that a motion in limine is a “device 
for obtaining rulings on the admissibility of evidence prior to trial[,]” see Northeast Fence & 
Iron Works, Inc. v. Murphy Quigley Co., Inc., 933 A.2d 664, 667 (Pa. Super. 2007) (emphasis 
added; citation omitted), Ms. Cunningham explains that she did not object to the defense’s 
purportedly improper argument in light of this ruling. See Ms. Cunningham’s Reply Brief 
at 12 (“The court’s in limine ruling explicitly allowed the defense to admit evidence and/or 
argue that Dr. Picardo was not negligent. Therefore, at trial[, Ms. Cunningham’s] counsel 
could neither reasonably object nor request a curative instruction to evidence or argument 
which had previously been deemed admissible by the pre-trial ruling of the court.”). Under 
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Pennsylvania Rule of Evidence 103, “[o]nce the court rules definitively on the record — 
either before or at trial — a party need not renew an objection or offer of proof to preserve a 
claim of error for appeal.” Pa.R.E. 103(b). Here, despite saying in its Rule 1925(a) opinion 
that it was taking a ‘wait and see’ approach with this issue, the trial court definitively denied 
Ms. Cunningham’s motion in limine regarding negligence, or at least appeared to do so in 
its order. Consequently, we decline to deem Ms. Cunningham’s argument waived on the 
basis that she did not renew her objection regarding the ‘discussion’ of negligence at trial.
	 Therefore, we proceed to review the merits of Ms. Cunningham’s claim. Though she states 
that we should apply the standard of review relating to the denial of a motion in limine, see 
Ms. Cunningham’s Brief at 3, no evidence of negligence was admitted at trial.9 Instead, the 
crux of her issue concerns the purportedly prejudicial remarks made by Dr. Picardo’s counsel 
during her opening and closing statements, which we have set forth supra. For such claims, 
we apply the following standard of review:

The grant of a new trial because of counsel’s improper remarks is within the discretion 
of the trial court. Stevenson v. Pennsylvania Sports and Enterprise, Inc., ... 93 A.2d 
236 ([Pa.] 1953); Harvey v. Hassinger, ... 461 A.2d 814 ([Pa. Super.] 1983). If the trial 
court determines that instructions to the jury to disregard the remarks are sufficient, an 
appellate court should be “reluctant to reverse since the trial judge is in a better position 
to see and understand the atmosphere of the trial and the effect the statement had on 
the jury.” Narcisco v. Mauch Chunk Twp., ... 87 A.2d 233, 234 ([Pa.] 1952). Whether 
the trial court abused its discretion in denying a new trial will be determined by “an 
examination of the remark made, the circumstances under which it was made and the 
precautions taken by court and counsel to remove its prejudicial effects.” Id. ... at 234-
[]35. See also Clark v. Hoerner, 525 A.2d 377 ([Pa. Super.] 1987).

Hill v. Reynolds, 557 A.2d 759, 765-66 (Pa. Super. 1989).
	 We agree with Ms. Cunningham that a surgery without a patient’s consent is a battery, 
and that negligence principles generally do not apply to such matters. Indeed, our Supreme 
Court has explained:

“It has long been the law in Pennsylvania that a physician must obtain informed 
consent from a patient before performing a surgical or operative procedure.” Morgan 
v. MacPhail, ... 704 A.2d 617, 619 ([Pa.] 1997), citing Sinclair v. Block, ... 633 A.2d 
1137 ([Pa.] 1993); Gray v. Grunnagle, ... 223 A.2d 663 ([Pa.] 1966).

   9 Ms. Cunningham does not complain of any specific testimony or other evidence admitted at trial regarding 
negligence or standard of care. See Ms. Cunningham’s Brief at 15-24 (complaining only of statements made in 
defense counsel’s opening and closing statements).

The informed consent doctrine requires physicians to provide patients with “material 
information necessary to determine whether to proceed with the surgical or operative 
procedure or to remain in the present condition.” Sinclair[,] 633 A.2d [at] 1140.... 
We have on several occasions defined the nature of this “material information.” We 
have stated that the information provided by a physician must give the patient “a true 
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understanding of the nature of the operation to be performed, the seriousness of it, 
the organs of the body involved, the disease or incapacity sought to be cured, and 
the possible results.” Gray[,] 223 A.2d [at] 674.... Thus, a physician must “advise 
the patient of those material facts, risks, complications and alternatives to surgery 
that a reasonable person in the patient’s situation would consider significant in 
deciding whether to have the operation.” Gouse v. Cassel, ... 615 A.2d 331, 334 
([Pa.] 1992). A claim that a physician failed to obtain the patient’s informed consent 
sounds in battery. Id.; see also Morgan[, supra].

Duttry v. Patterson, ... 771 A.2d 1255, 1258 ([Pa.] 2001) .... As this Court has 
emphasized, the informed consent doctrine derives from the very fact that surgical or 
operative procedures, if not consented to, amount to a battery:

The rationale underlying requiring informed consent for a surgical or operative 
procedure and not requiring informed consent for a non-surgical procedure is that the 
performance of a surgical procedure upon a patient without his consent constitutes 
a technical assault or a battery because the patient is typically unconscious and 
unable to object.

Morgan..., 704 A.2d at 620, citing Gray..., 223 A.2d at 668-69. See also Gouse..., 615 
A.2d at 334 (“Lack of informed consent is the legal equivalent to no consent; thus, the 
physician or surgeon who operates without his patient’s informed consent is liable for 
damages which occur, notwithstanding the care exercised[.]”).

Thus, this Court has made clear on repeated occasions over a period of several decades 
that a claim based upon a lack of informed consent involves a battery committed upon 
a patient by a physician, an action which is distinct from a claim of a consented-to, but 
negligently performed, medical treatment. Since surgery performed without a patient’s 
informed consent constitutes a technical battery, negligence principles generally do 
not apply. It follows, of course, that a claim involving a surgical procedure performed 
without any consent at all by the patient, ... also sounds in battery, and negligence 
requirements have no bearing on the matter. Indeed, a claim concerning the lack of 
consent for surgery can be maintained even where there is no allegation of negligence 
in the actual performance of the procedure. While negligence claims and informed 
consent claims often co-exist in the same tort action, they need not do so. A lack of 
informed consent or a lack of consent claim is actionable even if the subject surgery 
was properly performed and the overall result is beneficial.

Montgomery v. Bazaz-Sehgal, 798 A.2d 742, 748-49 (Pa. 2002) (emphasis omitted).
	 Based on the foregoing, we agree with Ms. Cunningham that negligence principles 
generally do not apply to informed consent cases. However, we reiterate that Ms. Cunningham 
does not complain of any specific testimony or other evidence admitted at trial regarding 
negligence or standard of care. Moreover; Dr. Picardo persuasively observes that:
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[I]n her [c]omplaint, [Ms. Cunningham] indicated that she suffered medical damages as 
a result of the surgery performed by Dr. Picardo. For instance, in [p]aragraph 34 of the  
[c]omplaint, [Ms. Cunningham] alleges “as a consequence of the surgery performed by Dr. 
Picardo, [Ms. Cunningham] has suffered painful and severe injuries, which include, but 
are not limited to post-surgical pain; disfigurement; and discomfort.” [Ms. Cunningham] 
further alleged in [p]aragraph 37 of her [c]omplaint[] the following: “As a result of 
the aforementioned injuries, [Ms. Cunningham] has undergone, and in the future, will 
undergo great physical and mental suffering, a great inconvenience in carrying out her 
daily activities, loss of life’s pleasures and enjoyment, and claim in (sic) made therefore.” 
[Ms. Cunningham] continued to allege in paragraphs 38 and 39 that “she sustained lost 
time from work, and lost opportunities, in addition to her persistent pain, limitations, 
and/or disfigurement, and therefore, avers that her injuries may be of a permanent nature, 
causing residual problems for the remainder of her lifetime and claim is therefore.”

[Ms. Cunningham] argued that, based upon an alleged lack of informed consent, a 
battery occurred, thus causing injuries including disfigurement by an alleged improper 
removal of a portion of [Ms. Cunningham’s] labia. [Ms. Cunningham’s] contention that 
her disfigurement occurred in an area of her anatomy allegedly not contemplated by Dr. 
Picardo’s surgery[] is tantamount to a suggestion that the surgery was not performed 
properly; otherwise, the unexpected injury would not have occurred, particularly in an 
area which was not being operated upon. [Dr. Picardo] therefore objected due to concern 
that [Ms. Cunningham’s] damage claim might imply or suggest that the surgery was 
performed improperly.

Dr. Picardo’s Brief at 16-18 (internal citations omitted).
	 As discerned by Dr. Picardo, Ms. Cunningham’s claim that her labia — on which Dr. 
Picardo did not operate — had changed shape and become disfigured from the surgery 
created a strong implication that Dr. Picardo did not perform the surgery properly. Under such 
circumstances, defense counsel’s comments in her opening and closing statements that the 
jury could assume that Dr. Picardo’s treatment was within the standard of care and appropriate 
do not strike us as improper nor prejudicial enough to warrant a new trial. Further, in both 
statements that Ms. Cunningham complains of, defense counsel immediately thereafter 
expressed to the jury that the “only question” before it was whether Dr. Picardo treated Ms. 
Cunningham without her consent. See N.T. Trial, 3/13/19, at 32 (“The only question in this 
case is whether she treated [Ms. Cunningham] without her consent.”); N.T. Trial, 3/14/19, 
at 104 (“The only question in front of you is whether Dr. Picardo obtained her consent for 
this surgery.”). By making such remarks, defense counsel justifiably sought to convey to 
the jury that standard of care was not at issue, and the singular question for them to resolve 
was the matter of consent. Furthermore, as the trial court observed supra, it instructed the 
jury that opening and closing statements were not evidence. See, e.g., Commonwealth v. 
Cash, 137 A.3d 1262, 1280 (Pa. 2016) (“It is well settled that the jury is presumed to follow 
the trial court’s instructions....”) (citation omitted). Accordingly, we conclude that the trial 
court did not err or abuse its discretion in determining that the at-issue remarks by defense 
counsel do not warrant a new trial.
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Issue 2
	 In Ms. Cunningham’s second issue, she states that the trial court “erred as a matter of 
law and abused its discretion when it failed to instruct the jury that a doctor must inform a 
patient of all material ‘facts’ from which she can make an intelligent choice as to her course 
of treatment. Instead, the trial court limited the required information to material ‘risks’ of 
surgery.” See Ms. Cunningham’s Brief at 12-13. She says that the trial court “denied [her] 
proposed jury instructions numbered 4, 5, 8, 12, 16, and 18, among others, and failed to give 
any instruction similar thereto.” Id. at 25 (footnote omitted). Ms. Cunningham claims that 
“[t]hese instructions supported the core of [her] case which was based on the fundamental 
legal proposition that a patient has the right to ‘all material facts’ from which she can make 
an ‘intelligent choice as to her course of treatment’ and that a patient has the right to choose 
the identity of her surgeon.” Id. (citations omitted). Further, she argues that, by denying her 
proposed instructions, “the trial court usurped the role of the jury[,] which is to determine 
what ‘facts’ are ‘material’ to a patient in deciding whether to undergo surgery.” Id. at 13.
	
	 We apply the following standard of review to such claims:

Our standard of review regarding jury instructions is limited to determining whether 
the trial court committed a clear abuse of discretion or error of law which controlled the 
outcome of the case. Error in a charge occurs when the charge as a whole is inadequate 
or not clear or has a tendency to mislead or confuse rather than clarify a material issue. 
Conversely, a jury instruction will be upheld if it accurately reflects the law and is 
sufficient to guide the jury in its deliberations.

The proper test is not whether certain portions or isolated excerpts taken out of context 
appear erroneous. We look to the charge in its entirety, against the background of the 
evidence in the particular case, to determine whether or not error was committed and 
whether that error was prejudicial to the complaining party.

In other words, there is no right to have any particular form of instruction given; it is 
enough that the charge clearly and accurately explains the relevant law.

Pledger by Pledger v. Janssen Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 198 A.3d 1126, 1146 (Pa. Super. 
2018) (citations omitted).

	 Before addressing Ms. Cunningham’s sub-issues, we set forth, in relevant part, the trial 
court’s jury instruction pertaining to informed consent:

In this case, the plaintiff has the burden of proving the following claims: Number one, 
Dr. Picardo performed an operation on plaintiff without her informed consent; number 
two, this procedure was the cause in bringing about the harm or damages as alleged; 
and number three, the extent of damages caused by the procedure.

A physician must obtain a patient’s consent to surgery. Patient’s consent must also be 
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informed. A patient cannot make an informed decision unless the physician explains the 
risks that a reasonably prudent patient would need to know to make an informed decision 
and the alternative choices. This is called informed consent. A patient must have been given 
a description of the proposed medical procedure or treatment and have been informed about 
the risks of the procedure or treatment. The patient must also be informed of the viable 
alternatives a reasonable person would consider important to know in order to make an 
informed decision about whether or not to undergo the procedure, treatment, or operation.

The physician who is responsible for the performance of the surgery cannot delegate to 
others her duty to provide sufficient information to obtain the patient’s informed consent. 
The physician must personally satisfy this obligation through direct communication 
with the patient.

The patient is not required to prove she would have made a different choice had the information 
been disclosed. The patient must only prove the information not given to her would have been 
a substantial factor in her decision to consent to the procedure or treatment. The physician is 
responsible whether or not the defendant physician intended to harm the plaintiff.

Informed consent requires direct communication between physician and patient and 
contemplates a back and forth face-to-face exchange.

N.T. Trial, 3/14/19, at 146-47.
Proposed Jury Instruction #8

	 To begin, Ms. Cunningham contends that the trial court erred when it rejected her Proposed 
Jury Instruction #8, which stated the following:

#8. The primary point of informed consent is that the patient is informed of all the 
material facts from which she can make an intelligent choice as to her course of 
treatment. Shinal v. Toms, 162 A.3d[] 429, 453 (Pa. 2017).

Ms. Cunningham’s Brief at 26 (citations omitted; emphasis in brief). Ms. Cunningham argues 
that the trial court “erroneously rejected the common law based ‘material facts’ charge ([Ms. 
Cunningham’s] Proposed #8) and substituted the more limiting ‘material risks’ charge found at 
[Pennsylvania Suggested Civil Jury Instruction (“SSJI”)] 14.90.” Id. (citations omitted).10 She 
asserts that SSJI 14.90 “is predominantly applicable in cases where a physician fails to warn a 
patient of potential surgical complications. No such claim was made here.” Id. at 30. Instead, 
she says that “[her] claim was based on the fact that she agreed to Dr. Stull[’s] performing her 
surgery, not Dr. Picardo. SSJI 14.90 was, for the most part, inapplicable to [Ms. Cunningham’s] 
claim.” Id. She maintains that “[t]he court erred by failing to permit the jury to consider 
whether any other information, such as the identity of the lead surgeon or the qualifications of 
that surgeon, might be a material fact that the jury could determine as relevant to a reasonable 
patient.” Id. at 40 (citations omitted).

   10 SSJI 14.90 is contained in the trial court’s above-stated jury instruction beginning at “A physician must obtain...
[,]” through the paragraph starting with “The patient is not required to prove....”
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	 The trial court explained that it denied Ms. Cunningham’s Proposed Jury Instruction #8 
because it provided the jury with the relevant portion of SSJI 14.90, and with part of Ms. 
Cunningham’s Proposed Jury Instruction #6, which set forth that “[i]nformed consent requires 
direct communication between physician and patient and contemplates a back and forth 
fac[e]-to-face exchange.” See TCO at 12 (citations omitted). It reasoned that the instruction 
“was properly read to this jury to apply to the facts as the jury found them.” Id. at 13.
	 We discern no abuse of discretion or error of law that controlled the outcome of the case. 
Ms. Cunningham contends that SSJI 14.90 is too limiting and does not apply to her claim 
regarding the identity of her ‘primary’ or ‘lead’ surgeon. However, as Dr. Picardo points out 
“there was no testimony offered that there is such a thing as a ‘primary’ or ‘lead’ surgeon. 
The only testimony on this terminology was offered by the only witness competent to testify 
on the subject, Dr. Picardo.” Dr. Picardo’s Brief at 28. At trial, Dr. Picardo testified:

We don’t say I’m the lead surgeon. We don’t go into formalities of titles with patients 
when we consent them. We say this is what we’re going to do, these are the people who 
could be there. We don’t say this person’s doing this, this person’s lead, this person’s 
— that’s not a typical conversation I have with any patients. It’s not necessarily the 
formality of consent.

N.T. Trial, 3/13/19, at 80. She later expounded that:

Having the consent process with [Ms. Cunningham], I could — by being, again, the 
lead surgeon, the lead surgeon — you’re using the word lead surgeon, because we don’t 
use that term. It’s the attending surgeon, which means the responsible ‘surgeon, and I 
took responsibility for everything leading up and afterwards.

When the consent is signed, in my mind, again, I didn’t know who was going to be 
doing what part of the surgery because ... once you get into surgery, then you sort of see 
what’s going on. In my mind, Dr. Stull ‘was there to potentially remove the Bartholin’s 
gland if I had difficulty finding it or I wanted a second pair of eyes to make sure I had 
the right area. Because, again, the Bartholin is so small it’s hard to find. I wanted to 
make sure it was done properly, and that would have meant Dr. Stull may have taken 
over that part of the surgery, whatever I felt was safest.

Id. at 84. According to Dr. Picardo, “[she] testified that she was the attending physician, 
and as such, she and only she was solely responsible for obtaining the patient’s informed 
consent.” Dr. Picardo’s Brief at 28; see also N.T. Trial, 3/13/19, at 73 (“[Y]ou don’t use 
the word lead, you use the word attending, which was a lot of meaning what that entails.”); 
id. at 78 (“There’s the attending, or the responsible, surgeon, which was me, because I did 
everything that the attending[,] responsible surgeon would do. And Dr. Stull was my assistant, 
but as an assistant[,] she basically could do a lot or a little of the surgery.”).
	 Ms. Cunningham did not introduce evidence to counter Dr. Picardo’s testimony and 
demonstrate that a, ‘lead’ or ‘primary’ surgeon exists in the medical community. Given the 
lack of proof that ‘lead’ or ‘primary’ surgeons exist, we do not agree with Ms. Cunningham 
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that the court erred by failing to permit the jury to consider whether she should have been 
informed of her ‘lead’ or ‘primary’ surgeon.11 Accordingly, against the backdrop of evidence 
adduced at trial in this matter, we do not conclude that trial court committed a clear abuse 
of discretion or error of law which controlled the outcome of the case by denying Ms. 
Cunningham’s Proposed Jury Instruction #8.

Proposed Jury Instructions #5 and #12
	 Next, Ms. Cunningham challenges the trial court’s rejection of her Proposed Jury 
Instructions #5 and #12, which provide the following:

   11 Ms. Cunningham argues that “it is up to the jury, not the court, to determine what information a reasonable patient 
would find ‘material’ in order to make an intelligent choice as to her course of treatment.” Ms. Cunningham’s Brief 
at 38 (citing Festa v. Greenberg, 511 A.2d 1371, 1377 (Pa. Super. 1986); Cooper v. Roberts, 286 A.2d 647, 651 (Pa. 
Super. 1971)). However, in Festa, this Court determined that “[a]lthough expert medical testimony is not mandatory 
to set forth the scope of a physician’s duty to disclose material risks to a patient under the reasonable man standard, 
we conclude that such testimony is required to establish the existence of risks in a specific medical procedure, the 
existence of alternative methods of treatment and the existence of risks attendant with such alternatives.” Festa, 
511 A.2d at 1376 (emphasis omitted). Similarly, we conclude that expert testimony is necessary to establish that a 
‘lead’ or ‘primary’ surgeon exists. Only after that existence is established may a jury determine if such information 
would be material to a reasonable patient in making an intelligent choice as to treatment.

#5. For consent to be effective, it must be informed and knowledgeable. In order for 
consent to be informed, there must be a clear understanding by both parties of “the 
nature of the undertaking and what the possible, as well as expected, results might 
be.” McSorely v. Deger, 905 A.2d 524, 528 (Pa. Super. 2006).

# 12. “Informed consent is the product of the physician-patient relationship. The patient 
is in the vulnerable position of entrusting his or her care and well-being to the physician 
based upon the physician’s education, training, and expertise. It is incumbent upon the 
physician to cultivate a relationship with the patient and to familiarize himself or 
herself with the patient’s understanding and expectations...[.] Only by personally 
satisfying the duty of disclosure may the physician ensure the consent truly is informed.” 
Shinal..., 162 A.3d at 453-[]54.

Ms. Cunningham’s Brief at 41 (emphasis in brief; some citations omitted).
	 Ms. Cunningham argues that “[t]he informed consent doctrine does not require a doctor to 
perform a sterile administrative checklist, but rather embraces the concept of a two-way flow 
of essential information arising out of the physician-patient relationship.” Id. at 40 (citation 
omitted). Ms. Cunningham states that she “requested a jury instruction conveying this concept 
to the jury in the form of [her] Proposed Jury Instruction[s] #5 and #12.” Id. at 41. She claims 
these instructions were necessary because Dr. Picardo did not communicate her understanding 
of the surgery to Ms. Cunningham, and did not understand Ms. Cunningham’s concept of 
the operation. See id. at 44. According to Ms. Cunningham, her Proposed Jury Instructions 
#5 and #12 “would have clarified that informed consent extends beyond SSJI 14.90’s risks, 
alternatives and description[,] requiring a doctor to ensure ‘a clear understanding by both 
parties of the nature of the undertaking’ ... and ‘to familiarize himself or herself with the 
patient’s understanding and expectations’....” Id. at 45.
	 The trial court rejected both instructions on the basis that SSJI 14.90 adequately stated 
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the relevant law and provided the necessary guidance for the jury to apply to the facts it 
found. See TCO at 11, 14. We agree. SSJI 14.90 sufficiently imparts that the doctor must 
directly communicate and discuss the proposed medical procedure with the patient. Further, 
we observe that the trial court read Ms. Cunningham’s Proposed Jury Instruction #6, which 
stated that “[i]nformed consent requires direct communication between physician and patient 
and contemplates a back and forth fac[e]-to-face exchange.” TCO at 12 (citations omitted). 
We also reiterate that “there is no right to have any particular form of instruction given; it 
is enough that the charge clearly and accurately explains the relevant law.” See Pledger, 
supra. Accordingly, no relief is due.

Proposed Jury Instruction #4 and #16
Ms. Cunningham next complains that the trial court improperly rejected her Proposed Jury 
Instructions #4 and #16, which state:

#4. A patient may specifically limit his or her consent to an invasive medical procedure 
to a particular surgeon. Taylor v. Albert Einstein Medical Center, 723 A.[2]d 1027, 
1034 (Pa. Super. 1998)[12]; Grabowski v. Quigley, 684 A.2d 610, 617 (Pa. Super. 1996) 
(“If the patient is not informed as to the identity of the operating surgeon, the situation 
is a [‘]ghost surgery[.’]”).

#16. “The patient is entitled to choose his own physician and he should be permitted 
to [agree to] or refuse to accept [a] substitution...[.] The patient is entitled to the 
services of the particular surgeon with whom he or she contracts...[.] If the surgeon 
employed merely assists the ... other physician in performing the operation, it is the 
... other physician who becomes the operating surgeon. If the patient is not informed 
as to the identity of the operating surgeon, the situation is an [impermissible] ‘ghost 
surgery’.” Taylor, [723 A.2d] at 1036; Grabowski, [684 A.2d] at 617.

Ms. Cunningham’s Brief at 46, 49 (emphasis in brief; citations omitted).
	 Ms. Cunningham argues that “by refusing to give [her] Proposed Jury Instructions #4 and 
#16, the trial court ... erroneously ruled that the identity of the surgeon who was to perform 
the procedure was irrelevant to the issue of informed consent.” Id. at 56. Further, she says 
that, “[a]s a result of the denial of both #4 and #16, the defense was able to argue that the 
division of labor during surgery is none of the patient’s business, [and] that this information 
is never relayed to the patient, nor should it be.” Id. at 49-50 (citations omitted). She contends 
that “[t]he trial court’s failure to instruct the jury as to [her] Proposed Jury Instructions #4 
and #16 was a reversible error of law which controlled the outcome of the case.” Id. at 57.
	 In denying Ms. Cunningham’s Proposed Jury Instructions #4 and #16, the trial court 
explained:

   12 We note that our Supreme Court reversed in part this decision on other grounds in Taylor v. Albert Einstein 
Medical Center, 754 A.2d 650 (Pa. 2000).

Both the Taylor and Grabowski cases involved factually different situations from the instant 
case. In Taylor, the patient’s mother alleged she had given consent to perform invasive 
surgery to Dr. Wertheimer, not to Dr. Trinkaus. In fact, when Dr. Trinkaus was specifically 
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   13 Dr. Picardo adds that Taylor “involved two surgeons having the informed consent discussion with the [p]laintiff, 
and the [p]laintiff consenting to the surgery by the more experienced surgeon. In this case..., it is undisputed that 
only Dr. Picardo held the informed consent discussion with [Ms.] Cunningham. Dr. Stull never spoke with [Ms. 
Cunningham] at any time prior to the surgery.” Dr. Picardo’s Brief at 31-32. We also observe that there was no 
written consent form in Taylor, and we reiterate that the patient’s mother in that case alleged that she had given 
consent to perform the invasive procedure only to the more experienced surgeon and not to the lesser experienced 
surgeon who actually performed the surgery. Taylor, 723 A.2d at 1031, 1034, 1036.

asked by the patient’s father who would perform [the] surgery, Dr. Trinkaus unequivocally 
stated Dr. Wertheimer would perform the catheterization. However, Dr. Trinkaus performed 
the catheterization with Dr. Wertheimer’s assistance.[13] In Grabowski, [the] patient sued 
three physicians for battery, medical malpractice, breach of oral contract, and vicarious 
liability. [The p]atient alleged [that the] first physician agreed to perform herniated disc 
surgery; [the] second physician actually performed [the] majority of surgery due to [the] 
first physician’s unavailability; and a third physician instructed [the] second physician to 
perform surgery. The consent form which [the patient] signed stated surgery would be 
“performed under the direction of Dr. Quigley, et al[.”] [The patient] testified “et al[,]” 
which was handwritten, looked to him like “ETOL[,”] and that the patient did not know 
what those words meant until his counsel explained them to him at a deposition. Moreover, 
the records in Grabowski reflected [that] the first physician who obtained the informed 
consent was unavailable for the procedure so he delegated to a second physician, unknown 
to the patient, who performed the bulk of the surgery. The first surgeon was not even on 
the premises but was in another county at the time the patient was placed under anesthesia. 
In the instant case, clearly all three surgeons’ names are listed on the [i]nformed [c]onsent 
[f]orm that [Ms. Cunningham] signed after discussing this form with [Dr. Picardo]. [Dr. 
Picardo] did not delegate to another surgeon to perform this surgery. Therefore, this trial 
court read to this jury [SSJI] 14.90 ... and instructed the jury as follows:

THE COURT: The physician who is responsible for the performance of the surgery 
cannot delegate to others her duty to provide sufficient information to obtain the 
patient’s informed consent. The physician must personally satisfy this obligation 
through direct communication with the patient.

[N.T. Trial, 3/14/19, at 146-47]. See also [id. at 138-60].

With the trial court’s reading of all the given jury instructions, and specifically [SSJI] 
14.90..., the jury in the instant case was properly and adequately informed that the physician 
who is responsible for the procedure must be the physician who obtained the patient’s 
informed consent. Moreover, ... after [Dr. Picardo] discussed the [i]nformed [c]onsent 
form with [Ms. Cunningham], [Ms. Cunningham] signed the [i]nformed [c]onsent form 
with all three surgeons — Dr. Picardo, Dr. Stull, and Dr. Tseng — listed near the top of 
the form. Dr. Picardo and Dr. Stull then performed the surgery on [Ms. Cunningham]. 
The jury in the instant case found Dr. Picardo obtained informed consent from [Ms. 
Cunningham] to perform this surgery; therefore, this trial court did not “circumscribe 
the jury’s duty by limiting any material or relevant facts” with this jury instruction which 
provides the law, not facts.
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TCO at 9-10 (formatting slightly modified); see also id. at 15-16.
	 Ms. Cunningham has not convinced us that the trial court committed an error of law 
or abuse of discretion. We agree with the trial court that Taylor and Grabowski are 
distinguishable. Unlike the circumstances in Taylor and Grabowski, the issue here is not 
whether Dr. Stull obtained consent and then, without Ms. Cunningham’s permission, 
delegated the surgery to Dr. Picardo or allowed Dr. Picardo to substitute for her. Instead, the 
issue here is whether Dr. Picardo obtained Ms. Cunningham’s· informed consent to perform 
the surgery, which presented a factual dispute for the jury to decide, largely based upon 
how it reconciled the differing accounts of the January 26, 2011 conversation between Dr. 
Picardo and Ms. Cunningham about the surgery.14 Further, to the extent Ms. Cunningham 
complains that because the trial court denied her Proposed Jury Instructions #4 and #16, the 
defense could argue that physicians never relay the division of labor to patients, we repeat 
that Ms. Cunningham produced no evidence at trial to the contrary. Thus, we determine that 
the trial court did not err and abuse its discretion in denying Ms. Cunningham’s Proposed 
Jury Instructions #4 and #16. No relief is due on this basis.

Issue 3
	 In Ms. Cunningham’s third issue, she argues that the trial court erred “when it refused 
to instruct the jury that a patient must be correctly advised of the professional credentials, 
training and experience of her primary surgeon.” Ms. Cunningham’s Brief at 57 (unnecessary 
capitalization and emphasis omitted). Ms. Cunningham explains that her Proposed Jury 
Instruction #18, which set forth SSJI 14.100, provided that:

   14 Cf. N.T. Trial, 3/13/19, at 170-71 (Ms. Cunningham’s recalling that Dr. Picardo asked her “if she could scrub in 
to be there”) with id. at 79 (Dr. Picardo’s stating that she thought it was “pretty obvious” that she would attend the 
surgery because “during the discussion about what would happen during the surgery, which is part of the consent, 
I use the words ‘I’ and ‘we’ typically. So we’re going to make an incision here, we’re going to then dissect down,· 
go through the tissue until we find the gland.... And I would have explained everything in ‘I’ or ‘we,’ those terms, 
instead of Dr. Stull will do this, Dr. Stull will do that. Because if Dr. Stull were going to be the one taking the lead, 
then Dr. Stull both legally and also for [the] best care of the patient would take over the whole consent process”).

INFORMED CONSENT — MISREPRESENTATION OF PHYSICIAN’S 
PROFESSIONAL CREDENTIALS, TRAINING OR EXPERIENCE

A physician is required to obtain the patient’s informed consent to proceed with 
surgery. A patient’s consent is not informed if the physician knowingly misrepresents 
her professional credentials, training, or experience.

The patient is not required to prove that she would have chosen differently, had the 
physician disclosed her true credentials, training, or experience. The patient must prove 
only that the misrepresentation was a “substantial factor” in the decision whether or 
not to undergo the procedure or treatment.

A physician may not argue as a defense that a reasonable person would have agreed to 
undergo the procedure or treatment even had the physician disclosed her’ true credentials, 
training, or experience. What a reasonable person would have chosen to do is irrelevant. 
The patient has the right to choose.

ERIE COUNTY LEGAL JOURNAL
Cunningham v. Picardo, M.D.

- 40 -



Ms. Cunningham’s Brief at 57-58 (citations omitted).
	 Ms. Cunningham contends that “[t]his case presents a unique situation. Here, Dr. Picardo 
did accurately provide her qualifications (i.e.[,] that she had never done the procedure 
before) and she did accurately provide Dr. Stull’s qualifications (that Dr. Stull had done the 
procedure before and felt comfortable doing it on [Ms.] Cunningham).” Id. at 58. However, 
according to Ms. Cunningham, “Dr. Picardo then misled [Ms.] Cunningham as to which 
doctor would actually perform the procedure.” Id. Ms. Cunningham claims that “[i]t defies 
logic to say that informed consent was satisfied where a patient was correctly informed of 
Dr. Picardo’s lack of experience and correctly informed of Dr. Stull’s ample experience, but 
then completely misled as to which doctor was to perform the operation.” Id. at 58-59. She 
says that “[i]t cannot be that the law prohibits misrepresentation of a surgeon’s credentials 
but allows misrepresentation of the identity of the surgeon.” Id. at 59.
	 The trial court explained why it denied this instruction as follows:

[D]espite evidence indicating that Dr. Picardo did not misrepresent her personal 
credentials as to training and experience, [Ms. Cunningham] argued [that] Dr. Picardo 
misrepresented who would be the surgeon. Additionally, no evidence was presented that 
Dr. Picardo misrepresented her “true” professional credentials, training, or experience. 
Since [there was] no evidence of any misrepresentation by [Dr. Picardo], this jury 
instruction was not appropriate. [Ms. Cunningham] also argued that she was “not 
accurately advised of the identity of the surgeon who would be performing the surgery 
on her.” Assuming arguendo this statement as true, this requested suggested standardized 
civil jury instruction is not proper or applicable as this instruction does not contemplate 
the type of misrepresentation alleged by [Ms. Cunningham]. [Ms. Cunningham’s] issue 
as to [P]roposed [J]ury [I]nstruction #18 was properly denied and lacks merit.

TCO at 17.
	 We discern no abuse of discretion or error of law in the trial court’s analysis. As the trial 
court stated, Ms. Cunningham’s Proposed Jury Instruction # 18/SSJI 14.100 does not pertain 
to the type of misrepresentation alleged by Ms. Cunningham. Accordingly, no relief is due 
on this basis either.
	 Judgment affirmed.
Judgment Entered
/s/ Joseph D. Seletyn, Esq.
Prothonotary
Date: 3/27/2020

ERIE COUNTY LEGAL JOURNAL
Cunningham v. Picardo, M.D.

- 41 -



- 42 -



FICTITIOUS NAME NOTICE
Pursuant to Act 295 of December 
16, 1982 notice is hereby given 
of the intention to file with the 
Secretary of the Commonwealth 
of Pennsylvania a “Certificate of 
Carrying On or Conducting Business 
under an Assumed or Fictitious 
Name.” Said Certificate contains the 
following information:

FICTITIOUS NAME NOTICE
An application for registration of the 
fictitious name Dragonwood Ranch, 
13974 Crosscut Rd., Corry, PA 16407 
has been filed in the Department of 
State at Harrisburg, PA, File Date 
04/10/2020 pursuant to the Fictitious 
Names Act, Act 1982-295. The name 
and address of the person who is a 
party to the registration is Victoria 
Boehmer, 13974 Crosscut Rd., Corry, 
PA 16407.

Apr. 17

	 ERIE COUNTY LEGAL JOURNAL	
COMMON PLEAS COURT	 LEGAL NOTICE	   COMMON PLEAS COURT

FICTITIOUS NAME NOTICE
An application for registration of the 
fictitious name The Knitting Dragon, 
13974 Crosscut Rd., Corry, PA 16407 
has been filed in the Department of 
State at Harrisburg, PA, File Date 
04/10/2020 pursuant to the Fictitious 
Names Act, Act 1982-295. The name 
and address of the person who is a 
party to the registration is Victoria 
Boehmer, 13974 Crosscut Rd., Corry, 
PA 16407.

Apr. 17

INCORPORATION NOTICE
The MINORITY COMMUNITY 
INVESTMENT COALITION 
has been incorporated under 
the provisions of the Nonprofit 
Corporation Law on April 8, 2020.
Elliott J. Ehrenreich, Esq.
KNOX McLAUGHLIN GORNALL 
  & SENNETT, P.C.
120 West Tenth Street
Erie, Pennsylvania 16501-1461

Apr. 17
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ESTATE  NOTICES
Notice is hereby given that in the 
estates of the decedents set forth 
below the Register of Wills has 
granted letters, testamentary or of 
administration, to the persons named.  
All persons having claims or demands 
against said estates are requested to 
make known the same and all persons 
indebted to said estates are requested 
to make payment without delay 
to the executors or their attorneys 
named below.

FIRST PUBLICATION

CRAIG, CONSTANCE L., a/k/a 
CONSTANCE CRAIG,
deceased

Late of the Township of Millcreek, 
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania
Executrix: Rebecca Irish, c/o 
Vendetti & Vendetti, 3820 Liberty 
Street, Erie, Pennsylvania 16509
Attorney: Richard A. Vendetti, 
Esquire, Vendetti & Vendetti, 3820 
Liberty Street, Erie, PA 16509

MUCCINO, MARY E.,
deceased

L a t e  o f  t h e  To w n s h i p  o f 
Millcreek, County of Erie, and 
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania
Executrix: Susan A. Buzzanco, 
c/o Gary D. Bax, Attorney at 
Law, 2525 West 26th Street, Erie, 
PA 16506
Attorney: Gary D. Bax, Esquire, 
2525 West 26th Street, Erie, PA 
16506

SECOND PUBLICATION

ADAMS, RALPH G.,
deceased

Late of the Township of Franklin, 
County of Erie, Commonwealth of 
Pennsylvania
Administrator: Kenneth C. Adams, 
865 Elk Creek Road, Waterford, 
PA 16441
Attorneys: MacDonald, Illig, Jones 
& Britton LLP, 100 State Street, 
Suite 700, Erie, Pennsylvania 
16507-1459

BAUMANN, JOAN M.,
deceased

Late of Fairview Township, 
Erie County, Commonwealth of 
Pennsylvania
Co-Executr ices:  Sandra L. 
Buccigrossi and Kimberly A. 
Lagana, c/o Jerome C. Wegley, 
Esq., 120 West Tenth Street, Erie, 
PA 16501
Attorney: Jerome C. Wegley, 
Esq., Knox McLaughlin Gornall 
& Sennett, P.C., 120 West Tenth 
Street, Erie, PA 16501

FLANDERS, THOMAS P., a/k/a 
TOM FLANDERS, 
deceased

L a t e  o f  t h e  To w n s h i p  o f 
Harborcreek, County of Erie and 
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania
Executrix: June Flanders, c/o 
504 State Street, 3rd Floor, Erie, 
PA 16501
Attorney: Michael J. Nies, Esquire, 
504 State Street, 3rd Floor, Erie, 
PA 16501

SCHANZ-UNGER, PAMELA A.,
deceased

Late of the City of Erie, County 
of Erie and State of Pennsylvania
Executor: Donald L. Mikovch, c/o 
David R. Devine, Esq., 201 Erie 
Street, Edinboro, PA 16412
Attorney: David R. Devine, Esq., 
201 Erie Street, Edinboro, PA 
16412

THIRD PUBLICATION

EVANS, FRANK R.,
deceased

Late of Venango Twp., Erie 
County, Pennsylvania
Executrix: Valerie A. Evans, 1113 
East Crandall Ave., Salt Lak City, 
UT 84106
Attorney: Jeffrey D. Banner, Esq., 
Heritage Elder Law & Estate 
Planning, LLC, 318 South Main 
Street, Butler, PA 16001

GILLILAND, ETHEL L.,
deceased

Late of the Township of Summit, 
County of Erie
Executrix: Mary Ann Tronetti, 
c/o Thomas A. Testi, Esq., 3952 
Avonia Road, P.O. Box 413, 
Fairview, PA 16415
Attorney: Thomas A. Testi, Esq., 
3952 Avonia Road, P.O. Box 413, 
Fairview, PA 16415

KNIGHT, ALFRED R., SR., a/k/a 
ALFRED R. KNIGHT,
deceased

Late of the City of Erie, County 
of Erie and Commonwealth of 
Pennsylvania
Executrix: Teri K. Benovic, c/o 
Michael A. Agresti, Esq., Suite 
300, 300 State Street, Erie, PA 
16507
Attorney: Michael A. Agresti, 
Esq . ,  MARSH,  SPAEDER, 
BAUR, SPAEDER & SCHAAF, 
LLP., Suite 300, 300 State Street, 
Erie, PA 16507

MALINOWSKI, DONALD J.,
deceased

L a t e  o f  t h e  To w n s h i p  o f 
Harborcreek, County of Erie, 
Pennsylvania
Executrix: Kimberly Stetson, c/o 
3939 West Ridge Road, Suite 
B-27, Erie, PA 16506
Attorney:  James L. Moran, 
Esquire, 3939 West Ridge Road, 
Suite B-27, Erie, PA 16506

STEVENS, PAUL V.,
deceased

Late of the Township of North 
Eas t ,  County  o f  Er ie  and 
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania
Administratrix: Kelly A. Stevens, 
c/o Michael A. Agresti, Esq., 
Suite 300, 300 State Street, Erie, 
PA 16507
Attorney: Michael A. Agresti, 
Esq . ,  MARSH,  SPAEDER, 
BAUR, SPAEDER & SCHAAF, 
LLP., Suite 300, 300 State Street, 
Erie, PA 16507

- 44 -

	 ERIE COUNTY LEGAL JOURNAL	
ORPHANS' COURT	 LEGAL NOTICE	            ORPHANS' COURT



LOOKING FOR ESTATE NOTICES

OR OTHER LEGAL NOTICES 
REQUIRING PUBLICATION 
IN A PA LEGAL JOURNAL?

Go to www.palegalads.org

This FREE site allows you to 
search statewide to determine 
whether a specific legal notice 

has been published.
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CHANGES  IN  CONTACT  INFORMATION  OF  ECBA  MEMBERS

Change of phone number
Thomas J. Minarcik...........................................................................814-520-8966

Change of last name
Andra Waniek to Andra Paganie
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LawPay has been an essential partner in our firm’s 
growth over the past few years. I have reviewed 
several other merchant processors and no one 
comes close to the ease of use, quality customer 
receipts, outstanding customer service and 
competitive pricing like LawPay has.

— Law Office of Robert David Malove

LAWPAY IS FIVE STAR! 

877-506-3498 or visit lawpay.com

Getting paid should be the easiest part of your job, and 
with LawPay, it is! However you run your firm, LawPay's 
flexible, easy-to-use system can work for you. Designed 

specifically for the legal industry, your earned/unearned fees 
are properly separated and your IOLTA is always protected 

against third-party debiting. Give your firm, and your clients, 
the benefit of easy online payments with LawPay.

THE #1 PAYMENT SOLUTION FOR LAW FIRMS

LawPay has been an essential partner in our firm’s 
growth over the past few years. I have reviewed 
several other merchant processors and no one 
comes close to the ease of use, quality customer 
receipts, outstanding customer service and 
competitive pricing like LawPay has.

— Law Office of Robert David Malove

LAWPAY IS FIVE STAR! 

877-506-3498 or visit lawpay.com

Getting paid should be the easiest part of your job, and 
with LawPay, it is! However you run your firm, LawPay's 
flexible, easy-to-use system can work for you. Designed 

specifically for the legal industry, your earned/unearned fees 
are properly separated and your IOLTA is always protected 

against third-party debiting. Give your firm, and your clients, 
the benefit of easy online payments with LawPay.

THE #1 PAYMENT SOLUTION FOR LAW FIRMS

LawPay has been an essential partner in our firm’s 
growth over the past few years. I have reviewed 
several other merchant processors and no one 
comes close to the ease of use, quality customer 
receipts, outstanding customer service and 
competitive pricing like LawPay has.

— Law Office of Robert David Malove

LAWPAY IS FIVE STAR! 

877-506-3498 or visit lawpay.com

Getting paid should be the easiest part of your job, and 
with LawPay, it is! However you run your firm, LawPay's 
flexible, easy-to-use system can work for you. Designed 

specifically for the legal industry, your earned/unearned fees 
are properly separated and your IOLTA is always protected 

against third-party debiting. Give your firm, and your clients, 
the benefit of easy online payments with LawPay.

THE #1 PAYMENT SOLUTION FOR LAW FIRMS

https://lawpay.com/member-programs/erie-county-bar/
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